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UNDERTAKINGS

13

14

‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:38 a.m.

15

MR. KAISER:
Please be seated. The Board is sitting today to hear the ‑‑ with a procedural motion with respect to the application by the Independent Electricity Market Operator, for review by its ‑‑

16

MR. VEGH:
The microphone is not on.

17

MR. KAISER:
Sorry. Excuse us for a moment while we see what's going on with the system here. Mr. Vegh, do we need the microphone to operate? Is that because of the translation?

18

[Off‑the‑record discussion]

19

MR. KAISER:
Let's use it as time to get the appearances on the record. I think the reporter can at least hear that part of it.

20

APPEARANCES:


21

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Mr. Chair, David Brown, counsel for the Independent Electricity System Operator.

22

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, Mr. Brown.

23

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
And with me today is Mr. Rattray, who's in‑house counsel for the IESO, Mr. Amir Shalaby, who's director of Regulatory Affairs of the IESO.

24

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, gentlemen.

25

MR. WARREN:
Robert Warren for the Consumers' Council of Canada.

26

MS. DeMARCO:
Lisa DeMarco on behalf of TransAlta Cogeneration LP, TransAlta Energy Corp., collectively known as TransAlta, and the Association of Power Producers of Ontario, known as APPrO. With me today is Joel Amy, student‑at‑law.

27

MR. POWER:
Rob Power on behalf of a coalition known as EMIG, for the Electricity Market Investment Group.

28

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, Mr. Power.

29

MR. RODGER:
Mark Rodger, appearing as counsel to the Association of Major Power Consumers of Ontario, AMPCO.

30

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, Mr. Rodger.

31

MR. LYLE:
Mike Lyle from Board hearing staff. With me today is Elaine Wong and Peter Fraser of Board Staff.

32

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, Mr. Lyle.

33

MR. KEIZER:
Charles Keizer, counsel on behalf of Coral Energy Canada Inc., and with me today is Paul Kerr, manager of market affairs, Coral Energy.

34

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, Mr. Keizer.

35

MR. MACINTOSH:
David MacIntosh, Energy Probe Research Foundation.

36

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, Mr. Macintosh.

37

MS. COOMBS:
Denise Coombs with the Society of Energy Professionals, and with me is Rick Coates, also with the Society of Energy Professionals.

38

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, Ms. Coombs. Anyone else? Sir?

39

MR. ROSS:
Yes, Allan Ross, counsel for TransCanada, with me ‑‑

40

MR. KAISER:
Can you move up, Mr. Ross? We can't see you in the bleachers there. You're acting for?

41

MR. ROSS:
I'm acting for TransCanada. I'm counsel for TransCanada. With me is Brian Kelly and Margaret Duzy, D‑u‑z‑y.

42

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, Mr. Ross. Anyone else?

43

MR. VEGH:
George Vegh, Board counsel as part of the Board support team.

44

PROCEDURAL MATTERS:


45

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, Mr. Vegh. As indicated, we're sitting today in the first of what will, no doubt, be a series of sittings with respect to an application that was filed with this Board on November 5 by the IEMSO, or whatever it's called now, the Independent Electric Market Operator, for review of its proposed expenditures and rates and charges for the year 2005. The matter before us this morning is what's called the issues list. We understand that there was a meeting, Mr. Vegh, on the 5th of January, was it?

46

MR. VEGH:
Yes, sir.

47

MR. KAISER:
Which dealt with this matter, and I believe you have a list to file of agreed upon issues and disputed issues.

48

MR. VEGH:
Yes, sir. Thank you. You should have in front of you a document entitled: "EB‑2004‑0477, Independent Electricity Market Operator review of fees, expenses and revenue requirement." I'd like to first mark this document as an exhibit and then speak to it for a moment.

49

MR. KAISER:
All right. What number is that?

50

MR. VEGH:
We'll mark it for identification purposes as Issues Day Exhibit 1.

51

ISSUES DAY EXHIBIT NO. 1:
EB‑2004‑0477, INDEPENDENT ELECTRICITY MARKET OPERATOR REVIEW OF FEES, EXPENSES AND REVENUE REQUIREMENT

52

MR. KAISER:
Do you want to speak to this?

53

MR. VEGH:
Yes, sir.

54

Just by way of background, in accordance with Procedural Order No. 1 in this matter, the parties met on January 5 for an issues conference to prepare for the Board's consideration a list of agreed upon and disputed issues. In front of you as Issues Day Exhibit 1 is the document prepared by parties on the 5th.

55

So pages 1 to 2 of that document is a list of agreed upon issues, and page three is a list of disputed issues. And the parties will speak for themselves, but they will propose to you that the Board accept the list of agreed upon issues as the issues in this proceeding, and determine the parties' positions on the list of disputed issues.

56

MR. KAISER:
All right. Well, let's deal with the agreed upon issues first. Anyone not accept what's stated in Exhibit 1? Mr. Lyle, are you content with it?

57

MR. LYLE:
Yes, I am, Mr. Chair.

58

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Brown?

59

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Yes, Mr. Chair.

60

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Warren?

61

MR. WARREN:
Yes, sir.

62

MR. KAISER:
All right. Let's proceed, then, to disputed issues.

63

Before I do that, are there any other procedural matters? I notice, Mr. Brown, you filed a letter with the Board a couple of days ago with respect to certain amendments to your application.

64

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Yes, there are actually two procedural ‑‑ I guess three procedural matters that I wish to raise at this time. First, in the letter that I sent to the Board on Friday, I indicated that as a result of the letter of January 4, 2005, which I sent to the Board advising of an amendment to the application, that we had committed to Board Staff to filing a revised submission for review and an update of the evidence by this Friday to reflect consequential amendments flowing from that amendment of the application. So that's the first thing.

65

The second thing in the letter I wrote to the Board's Secretary this past Friday, I raised with the Board Secretary for consideration the possibility of scheduling a technical conference in this proceeding prior to the commencement of interrogatories, which are due to commence by intervenors on Wednesday, the 19th of January. This is a conference that has been used in the past in this proceeding. The conference is designed to allow, in this case, the IESO to bring some personnel, particularly financial personnel, the controller and whatnot, into a setting where the intervenors are free to ask the controller and other people any questions that they have on the pre‑filed evidence that the IESO has submitted.

66

We have found in the past that that has proved helpful. So that if people had questions as to ambiguities or uncertainties about the evidence, they could get them answered in that form, and then that would of obviate the need to actually feel a written interrogatory in respect of that matter. So that was something that was mooted at the issues conference, and we would ask for a consideration by the Board of the possibility of that kind of technical conference.

67

The third matter, Mr. Chair, deals with the possibility of an ADR or a settlement conference at some latter point in the proceeding before the hearing. This was a matter that was discussed at the issues conference. Best as I could tell, there seemed to be a very broad consensus amongst the applicants and the intervenors that there would be merit in holding a settlement conference at an appropriate point.

68

And I guess the procedural direction that we would ask the Board to consider relates to the notice of application that the Board has issued in this proceeding. In the notice of application, on the first page, in the last paragraph, the Board addresses the prospect of holding a settlement conference, but the notice then goes on to say:

69

"However, regardless of the terms of a settlement proposal, the Board has determined that the following issues should be addressed in the hearing." Three issues are then listed.

70

I guess the practical question that the applicant and the intervenors have for the Board is: Given that language in the notice of application, is it the Board's view that certain issues upon the ‑‑ ultimately, what will be the issues list, are certain issues off‑limits, so to speak, for purposes of discussion at the settlement conference, on the basis that the Board is going to deal with them, in any event, in a hearing? Or would the Board's direction to the applicant and the intervenors be that you would encourage parties to talk about all issues, to see whether all issues can be settled? And then, whatever the results of the settlement process, those are to be brought to the Board for consideration?

71

So there's a very practical concern that ‑‑ should the parties be spending time and money talking about issues that simply are not settleable from the Board's point of view? And I think we would all be assisted by the Board's direction in that regard.

72

So those are the three procedural ‑‑ other procedural matters, as I see them, with respect to the proceeding.

73

MR. KAISER:
Now, Mr. Brown, let's deal with the last issue first. And let's hear from the other parties. I think we understand your point.

74

Mr. Vegh, do you have any comments on that matter?

75

MR. VEGH:
My only comment would be with respect to the three issues identified in the notice of application. As I read the notice of application, the Board did indicate that it did want to hold a hearing on those three issues.

76

Now, my review of the list of agreed‑upon issues indicates that those issues are encapsulated in the agreed‑upon issues, so they could form the Issues List in front of the Board. And, of course, if there is a settlement proposal on those issues that's ultimately accepted by the Board, then the Board would not have had a hearing on it.

77

So, my view would be that it would be consistent with the notice of application for the Board to effectively exclude certain issues from being finalized in a settlement agreement, and, instead, indicate that those issues will be addressed in a hearing. There may be the job of sort of cross‑referencing the areas identified in the Issues List with the list of agreed‑upon issues to provide parties with greater specification of how those areas are reflected.

78

But, of course, that was the position in the notice of application. And should the Board change its position and decide that an issues ‑‑ that a settlement on any of those issues is appropriate, the Board is always free do that.

79

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Lyle, do you have any comments?

80

MR. LYLE:
Yes, Mr. Chair.

81

My only comment with respect to two of the three issues that are outlined in the notice of application ‑ one being the Market Evolution Program and its associated costs, and the other being the IMO accumulated surplus account and financial planning ‑ is that the circumstances around those two issues have changed quite significantly as a result of Mr. Brown's letter, in which he indicated that the IMO would not be proceeding with the $37 million expenditure related to the day‑ahead market, and that the IMO had entered into a memorandum of understanding with respect to the use of $15 million of the accumulated surplus.

82

It may be that, as a result of those changes in the nature of the application, the Board may wish to consider whether it still wishes to ensure that those two matters are fully canvassed in a hearing.

83

MR. KAISER:
All right.

84

Mr. Warren, do you have any position on this?

85

MR. WARREN:
Beyond saying, sir, that alternate dispute resolution sessions are very helpful from two perspectives: One, they help to resolve a lot of issues; and number two, the ones that aren't resolved are refined, and it saves hearing time, and it saves everybody ‑‑ it saves everyone time and expense. So regardless of the resolution of issues that should go to hearing, it would be our position that an ADR session should be held, sir.

86

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Rodger, do you have anything on this?

87

MR. RODGER:
Yes, AMPCO would be very supportive of having a settlement conference, sir.

88

MR. KAISER:
Ms. DeMarco?

89

MS. DeMARCO:
I would support the submissions of Mr. Warren and Mr. Rodger, only to say, in addition, that it would be beneficial to have some certainty, if the Board intends to review these issues nonetheless. And the first two bullets identified in the notice of application, namely, the Market Evolution Program and its associated costs, as well as the IMO accumulated surplus and financial planning, may fall within the context of two of the disputed issues as well, namely, D1, 2005 expenditures and revenue requirements MEP, and, secondly, the memorandum of understanding.

90

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Ross, do you have anything on this?

91

MR. ROSS:
Nothing really further to add, sir, except to broadly echo the statements of Mr. Warren and Mr. Rodger, that an ADR process in the sense of this context may be helpful.

92

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Keizer?

93

MR. KEIZER:
Same for Coral Energy. A technical conference and a settlement conference would always be helpful. Any clarity with respect to these issues would help streamline the proceeding. We had nothing further to add other than submissions made by Mr. Warren and Mr. Rodger. Anything we can do to clarify the issues and streamline the process would be appreciated.

94

MR. KAISER:
Any other parties have anything to add?

95

All right. Well, we'll reserve on this and consider it with the other matters, if that's acceptable, Mr. Brown?

96

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Yes, sir.

97

MR. KAISER:
You don't need an answer right now, do you?

98

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
No, we don't, sir.

99

MR. KAISER:
All right.

100

Any other procedural issues anyone cares to raise? All right.

101

And I take it we had agreement of all parties, Mr. Vegh, that the agreed‑upon issues were agreed upon? Nobody wants to amend your document in any shape or form?

102

MR. VEGH:
I take that from the reaction to your question, sir.

103

MR. KAISER:
All right.

104

All right. Let's proceed, Mr. Brown, with the disputed matters, the two disputed matters. There's ‑‑ really, in both cases, there's a jurisdictional argument. So you're up to bat.

105

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. DAVID M. BROWN ON DISPUTED ISSUES:


106

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

107

Yes, there is a jurisdictional or a scope‑of‑review issue, relating to both of them. What I propose to do, sir, is, first, to give some background to how we got here, and then, secondly, to deal with each of the issues.

108

For purposes of today's argument, I have prepared an outline of a written argument, together with some attachments. I've put them together in a brief, and I've given Board Staff copies of that brief. So perhaps they could provide them to you.

109

MR. KAISER:
Thank you.

110

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
All the intervenors have them, and I circulated the actual outline yesterday by e‑mail.

111

At tab A of this brief, which perhaps for purposes of today we could mark as Issues Day Exhibit No. 2?

112

MR. KAISER:
That's fine.

113

ISSUES DAY EXHIBIT NO. 2:
BRIEF OF ARGUMENT AND ATTACHMENTS OF THE APPLICANT

114

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
At tab A there is an outline of argument. It's not quite a factum, it's a bit rougher than that, but I think it gets you to where I would like to take the issues.

115

MR. KAISER:
This is the same as the one that you e‑mailed?

116

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
That is correct, sir.

117

MR. KAISER:
Thank you.

118

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
The background to the dispute over the two issues, which have been labeled D1 and D2 on Exhibit 1, relates, as I understand it, to an understanding of the scope of review that the Board possesses under section 19 of the Electricity Act, 1998, the section under which all fees applications have been brought in the past.

119

Before I get to that section, I would note that this, I think, is the fourth or fifth fees application brought by the IMO, or what's now called the IESO, since the year 2000. And none was brought in year 2003, because the statute pre‑empted the proceeding. But in each one of those there was little in the way of a hearing.

120

Indeed, apart from the first hearing back in 2000, when there was a dispute over the method by which the IMO usage fee would be charged to market participants, all subsequent fees cases have proceeded on the basis of extensive discussions amongst the intervenors and the applicant, resulting in settlement agreement, and a settlement agreement has been approved by the Board. So there's no history of proceedings ‑‑ of hearings. And as a result of that there has really never been any opportunity to consider exactly what the scope of review under section 19 of the Electricity Act is.

121

You'll see from section 19.1, which is on page 1 of my written brief, that the statute requires the IESO, 60 days before the end of each year, to submit its proposed expenditure and revenue requirements for the fiscal year, and the fees it proposes to charge during the fiscal year, to the Board for review. But it sets out a condition precedent that you can't do that until you've got the approval of the Minister of your business plan.

122

So that, in board terms, is what the IESO must do. What the Board has jurisdiction to do is in section 19.2.

123

"The Board may approve the proposed requirements," which would be both the proposed expenditure and revenue requirements, "and the proposed fees, or may refer them back to the IESO for further consideration with the Board's recommendation."

124

So unlike the typical gas‑making regulation under section 36 of the OEB Act or the electricity one under section 78 of that act, where the Board may approve or disallow, section 19 sets up a slightly different framework for a review of the IESO.

125

What is significant about section 19(1) and (2) is that that is really it in terms of the scope of review. There's no language such as "just and reasonable rates," as you find on the gas and the electricity side, nor is there any language that the Board is not bound by any contract, which again, is part of section 36 and section 78. So this is what was in the Act in 1998 and has remained unchanged up until today, including any amendments from Bill 100. And indeed the only amendments Bill 100 made to Sections 19.1 and .2 were to change the name of the IMO from the IESO.

126

So it's against that background that the discussion at the issues conference on Wednesday evolved. Exactly what is the scope of review of the Board under Sections 19.1 and 19.2 to this Act?

127

Now, as I've indicated on page 2 of the brief, paragraph 3, although Bill 100 was not in place at the time the IMO prepared its 2005 business plan, the IMO, in fact, filed its 2005 business plan with the Ministry of Energy. And I've extracted, in paragraph 3, the gist of the Minister's response in a letter of November 3, 2004, in which he wrote that:

128

"The priorities set out in the business plan were consistent with the Government's initiatives, including the development of a day‑ahead market."

129

And then proceeded to give approval to the IMO to file its 2005 fees application with the OEB, which it has done. Then there was the notice of application.

130

And so, when we got to the issues conference, a discussion emerged about two of the issues that the Board has set down in its notice of application for consideration; that is, the market evolution program and its costs, and the accumulated surplus in the variance account. The day before the issues conference took place, I wrote to the Board's secretary to advise him of an amendment that the IMO was making to the application. And I've reproduced that letter, sir, at tab 10 of my brief.

131

And what you'll find at tab 10 is my letter and the enclosure, which was the memorandum of understanding between the Ministry and the IMO. The amendments were twofold. First, as you have seen from the pre‑filed evidence, part of the market evolution program that the IMO has been proceeding with over the course of the last two to three years has been something called the day‑ahead market, a market that would allow parties to enter into binding settlements a day before the real‑time obligations must be fulfilled with respect to the purchase and sale of electricity. That proposal had gone through two years worth of stakeholdering at the IMO, and in the 2005 business plan approximately $37 million of capital expenditures, for which the IMO was seeking approval, related to the capital expenditures for the day‑ahead market in 2005.

132

There had been much discussion within the marketplace at large about the day‑ahead market. Some queried its need, some queried its design. There were differences of view amongst market participants. That led the IMO board of directors at its meeting in December to direct management and staff of the IMO to go back and to consider various alternatives, options, different ways of looking at how you achieve the objectives that the day‑ahead market was designed to achieve.

133

That then prompted the decision by the IMO to embark upon that process and realistically, given that further inquiry that was going to be made, there would be no capital expenditure for the day‑ahead market in 2005. The only costs that would really be associated with the day‑ahead market in 2005 would be operational in nature, relating to the staffing for the ongoing inquiry of alternatives.

134

So I wrote to the Board indicating that a formal amendment to the IMO's application would be made, whereby we would be reducing the amount requested for approval on the capital expenditures. But as the letter does indicate, a day‑ahead market remains a priority and a commitment for the IESO, but it's going to look into whether you can get to the same place by different means over the course of 2005.

135

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Brown, can I stop you there? If what you're saying is you've now withdrawn this aspect of your application, we have to decide whether the Board has jurisdiction over something that's no longer part of the application.

136

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
A very valid question, and I tried to probe that over the course of this past week. The market evolution program proposed for 2005 consisted, in large part, of the capital specification related to the day‑ahead market. Those were the lion's share. But there were some smaller amounts that are related to the market evolution program.

137

And perhaps I could take you, sir, to ‑‑ I though I had it out here ‑‑ extracts from this year's plan, which will be found at tab 9, sir. It would be helpful to take you there. You'll see at the second page of that tab, page 34 of the business plan that has been filed by the IMO and marked as an exhibit in this proceeding, there is a description of the market evolution plan. And in the third paragraph you'll see five different bullet points which highlight different aspects of the market evolution plan.

138

I stand to be corrected by my client, but in terms of work that was proposed to go on in 2005, there would be some capital ‑‑ the majority of the capital expenditures would be related to the day‑ahead market, and then the third bullet, "long‑term resource adequacy," which has now morphed into something called, "resource adequacy management," RAM. So you have the acronyms of DAM and RAM.

139

MR. KAISER:
So DAM's gone but RAM's still here?

140

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
RAM is still here. In terms of the proposed capital expenditures for RAM, if you could turn with me to the last page of the tab, page 59, there's an appendix 4 to the IMO's business plan. And you'll see there in the third line, "resource adequacy market," there were cap ex's of 400,000 projected for 2004, my understanding is those have not yet been spent, and 400,000 for 2005.

141

The only other market evolution program related matter proposed for 2005 is then two lines further down. It's marked "program management, market evolution program." And the proposed expenditures for 2005 were $200,000. I understand that with the deferral of the DAM, those capital expenditures will not be incurred, although they're very de minimus in nature, and that effectively the delay in the DAM leaves you in this position: First, there will be some operational expenses in 2005 to look into, you know, the alternatives, or different options to achieve the DAM objectives. There will be some small capital expenditures and operational expenses for the RAM program. And then that program management goes off the table, since it was related to capital expenditures for DAM.

142

So as a result of the amendment to the application, there is some market evolution program related capital expenditures and operational expenses still in the 2005 plan, but they're very small in nature, and simply pale in comparison to the $37 million that had been proposed for the day‑ahead market. So that's the lay of the land, as it is right now.

143

So coming back to your question, sir, as I understand it from some of the intervenors, and they will speak for themselves on this, there was a general desire to look into the need for the when, the where, the how, and the why, for any aspect of the market evolution program, and that, notwithstanding the delay and the amendment with respect to the DAM program, there still was interest on the part of some intervenors to pursue that issue. Now, they can speak for themselves, but that's my understanding as to where matters stand.

144

MR. KAISER:
Let's get their position on that.

145

Mr. Warren, do you have a position on this? Now that DAM is gone, do you still want this matter argued?

146

MR. WARREN:
I wouldn't put it so low as to say it's a matter of indifference, sir, but I would say it's far more important to Mr. Rodger and perhaps he should speak to it, sir.

147

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Rodger.

148

MR. RODGER:
Yes, sir. This issue really goes to the heart of the first contested issue, and I'll elaborate on this when it comes to my turn. But in essence, AMPCO's view is that RAM, as part of the market evolution program, is no longer a legitimate requirement for the IMO and should be ‑‑ and that debate should be reviewed at this hearing. And that's, by and large, because of the way we're going to suggest you interpret section 19, and also because of the changes in the IMO's objects, as a result of Bill 100.

149

MR. KAISER:
All right.

150

Ms. DeMarco, do you have a position?

151

MS. DeMARCO:
Just a slightly different take on Mr. Rodger's submissions, but inclusive of the fact that this does go to the heart of the issue to be determined today. Our position would be that this issue goes to the heart of the scope of the Board's jurisdiction to consider activities underpinning the Market Evolution Program, in the context of determining the expenditures, revenue requirement, and fees that are the subject of this application.

152

MR. KAISER:
So you want to argue it, notwithstanding the fact that we're down to $400,000?

153

MS. DeMARCO:
I think, certainly, the jurisdictional issues are incredibly important.

154

MR. KAISER:
All right.

155

Mr. Ross?

156

MR. ROSS:
Thank you, sir. The jurisdictional issues, certainly, are important to us. On this particular point, however, we are largely indifferent as to the substance of it. But, certainly, the issue of jurisdiction, and having this Board have an opportunity to hear issues, is something that's important to us.

157

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Keizer, do you have a position?

158

MR. KEIZER:
I would echo the same submission. It's an issue that the parties have raised. The jurisdictional issue does create a level of uncertainty, and it's something that need to be clarified.

159

MR. KAISER:
Do any other parties wish to comment? Thank you.

160

All right. Proceed, Mr. Brown.

161

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Thank you, Mr. Chair.

162

Going back to my letter of January the 4th, which is at tab 10, the second matter of which the IMO notified the Board was that it had just entered into a memorandum of understanding with the Ministry of Energy.

163

One of the features of Bill 100 was the authorization to create a new entity called the Ontario Power Authority, which would have a number of different functions, but including medium‑ and long‑term forecasting and power procurement. Late last year, the Ministry of Energy approached the IMO and asked for the IMO to assist in the set‑up costs and support of the OPA.

164

As you know, the IMO traditionally has done short‑term, medium‑term and long‑term adequacy and transmission‑reliability forecasting. Some of that would now be, notionally, under the umbrella of the OPA.

165

In any event, as a result of those discussions, a memorandum of agreement was entered into between the parties, which I've reproduced at tab 10. And that memorandum has two components, a financial support component and an ongoing assistance component.

166

Under the financial support component, the IMO maintains a variance account, pursuant to past orders of this Board in various fees proceedings. And it was projected that, at the end of 2004, the surplus in that variance account would exceed $15 million. Indeed, the best projection we have now is that the surplus will be $16.1 million.

167

The agreement with the Minister of Energy would be that $15 million of that surplus account would remain in the IMO, but, essentially, could be drawn down to zero by the OPA to fund one‑time OPA start‑up costs.

168

The second part of the memorandum of understanding is on the second page of it, which is services support and coordination of work. And you'll see from that that the IMO has committed, on an ongoing basis, to make available staff to the OPA ‑‑ or to make available cooperation to the OPA, in some respects of its new operations, as long as they don't compromise the IESO's capability to meet its own accountabilities. And, indeed, a similar protocol, I understand, was entered into between the IMO and the OEB, given the transfer of the market surveillance panel from the IMO to the OEB.

169

So this was entered into by the IMO on January the 4th. It just got its Board approval on the morning of January 4th to enter into it. So, when we got to the issues conference last Wednesday, the other intervenors had this letter, and the discussion proceeded on that basis.

170

If I could characterize the discussion, two differences of view emerged during the course of the issues conference.

171

With respect to the Market Evolution Program, a number of intervenors took the view that, under section 19, this Board could assess the need for any market evolution or market design that the IMO was engaged in, or proposed to engage in, as part of a section 19 review. The IMO's position is different. It's the IMO's submission that the need for changes to the IMO ‑‑ the design of the IMO‑administered market, or the rules surrounding the IMO‑controlled grid, vests in the IMO under the Electricity Act. And I'll get into the details of that.

172

So that, when it comes to a section 19 proceeding, the IMO's position is, the OEB is not there to initially look at what thoughts the IMO has about market evolution or market design. The statute tells the IMO to look at that. What the OEB is to do is to take a look at the amounts the IMO is proposing to spend in respect of the projects the IMO thinks are worthwhile to pursue, and then to adjudge whether or not those amounts are reasonable or proportionate to what the IMO is proposing.

173

The IMO parts company with a number of the intervenors because, as it understands the intervenors' positions, they essentially want to get two kicks at the can with respect to market rules. The market rules currently give the OEB a review power over market rules once published by the IMO, which none of the intervenors have availed themselves of, to date. And the IMO, sort of, apprehends that what the intervenors are trying to do is to say, Well, in addition to that review power, after market rules are published, we think the OEB should be able to look into what market rules or market design changes are being proposed as part of the fees case, and, perhaps, bring things to a halt before they even start. I may be, perhaps, a bit too blunt in that, but I think that's what it comes down to.

174

So that was the difference of view between the parties at the issues conference on what's the first disputed issue, D1.

175

On the second disputed issue, the MOU, the IMO took no objection whatsoever to there being an issue as to the consequences of the MOU on the 2005 operations and finances of the IMO. And that, indeed, is one of the agreed issues.

176

The IMO took issue with putting on the Issues List an issue which really goes to the validity of the MOU, that is, was it appropriate for the IMO to do what it did? Or did the IMO have authority to enter into the MOU with respect to the $15 million?

177

And the IMO's position on that is very simple. The IMO is a statutory agency. It's charged to implement government policy. The government came to it, as a matter of government policy. The government wants to minimize the start‑up costs of OPA and the fees that the OPA must charge. So it has asked to take from the IMO's surplus funds to start up the OPA, and that is consistent with the purposes of the Act.

178

So the IMO's view is that that's really a matter of government policy that has been decided. As part of the scope of review under section 19, it's not open to the OEB to second‑guess, if I can put it that way, government policy. But it certainly is open to the OEB to examine the financial consequences on the operations of the IMO for 2005 of that policy.

179

So ‑‑

180

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Brown, in paragraph 22 of your brief, you make the point that the Lieutenant Governor in Council has authority to make certain regulations with respect ‑‑ requiring the IESO, the OPA, and the Board to enter into contracts.

181

Is there a regulation governing this transfer of funds?

182

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
No, there isn't.

183

MR. KAISER:
Is that contemplated?

184

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
As I understand matters, the government may contemplate doing that, if the Board determines that it's within their scope of review to look into the authority of the MOU. That's my best information on it.

185

MR. KAISER:
What's your position? Is the regulation required ore not? That seems to be your argument.

186

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
My argument is that regulation is not required.

187

MR. KAISER:
All right.

188

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
And that, given the circumstances under which the MOU came into force, and the purpose for which the one‑time start‑up costs are going to be used, what the IMO did is consistent with the IMO objectives, it's consistent with the OPA objectives, and it's consistent with the overall objectives of the government, as part of Bill 100.

189

At the issues conference there was some discussion about, Oh, well, could a utility go out and spend money on swimming pools somewhere, or hockey teams somewhere else? That's not this case. The OPA is going to be engaged in statutorily‑mandated duties, and these monies are going to be used for that purpose.

190

And, of course, as you are aware, under Bill 100, the OPA does have the authority to charge whomever ‑ and one would have to assume it would be, basically, the same people who pay the IMO usage fees ‑ amounts for what the OPA does.

191

So, essentially, what the government is proposing is to try and minimize incremental costs to setting up the OPA, and that's consistent with the overall purpose of the IMO's variance account, which is a rate‑stabilization one.

192

MR. KAISER:
What was the point of paragraph 22 of your brief, then?

193

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Well, the point in paragraph 22 of the brief was to indicate that the Act certainly contemplated that there would be co‑operation amongst a number of agencies to facilitate the start‑up of the OPA. There would be co‑operation amongst the IESO, the OEB and the OPA. Section 25(1)9.1 of the Electricity Act specifically authorizes the Minister to direct entities to enter into contract on behalf of the OPA, which I suggest is a kind of pre‑incorporation contract kind of provision.

194

And then the other two sections, sir, the 161.2, which is the transfer of assets, and the 161.4, the making of regulations, simply indicate that it certainly is contemplated as a part of government policy that the IESO may be called upon in various ways to assist the start‑up. As a lawyer, I candidly concede that there is no regulation and there is no transfer order with respect to this. My submission to you isn't is a technical/legal one, my submission to you is a practical one.

195

The MOU is an implementation of government policy and the MOU seems to be a practical way to achieve a result which is at least contemplated by Bill 100, although perhaps not expressly contemplated in this particular way.

196

The IMO is an entity that has all the powers of an actual person, so there really isn't any question as to authority to get into the contract. As I understand the comments of some of the intervenors at the issue conference, it's not so much whether the IMO has the legal capacity to enter into this kind of contract, I think the observations were more in the nature: Well, look, in the 2004 fees proceeding, the IMO got approval to hold onto and accumulate a surplus in the variance account, and the Board said you can do so in order to implement a rate stabilization program for IMO fees. That is, if it's projected that in 2005, 6, and 7, there might be small deficits, then hold onto your surplus now so you can draw upon those in future years and you keep your usage fee at the same level.

197

And I think some of the intervenors are saying: Well, you've got a Board order there that contemplates that that's how the surplus will be used, how can the Ministry of Energy ask the IMO to do something which would be arguably contrary, in the intervenors' view, to a Board order? And I guess my simple answer to that is, sort of, a practical one. Let's not lose sight of the forest for the trees kind of argument. That what the IESO and the OPA are both designed to do is to implement a current government policy. The monies, the $15 million contemplated under the MOU, are earmarked for that purpose and they're also earmarked for that purpose in order to achieve the Government objective, that was setting is up the OPA. There will not be incremental costs to market participants as a result of that.

198

And so that money which originally was planned to, sort of, stabilize just the IMO usage fee now, in effect, will be used to stabilize the IMO usage fee but also to minimize and mitigate the OPA start‑up fees.

199

So my argument to you in terms of whether this decision by the Government to use the money that way should be part of the scope of the section 19 review is really a practical one. The statute contemplates that there will be the support and cooperation. The Ministry has decided that this will be government policy. The policy is completely consistent with the overall thrust of the statute, and as a practical matter, this is an efficient way to deal with it. And market participants are not going to be prejudiced. The money will be earmarked to mitigate the start‑up costs of the OPA, which they were going to be charged with in any event.

200

So that, in my respectful submission, it really doesn't make a lot of sense to spend time in this proceeding second‑guessing the government. Because, as a practical matter, what is the OEB to do as part of its review? Under section 19.2, which I read to you at the beginning, the OEB would have two options if it proceeded with this issue. The first option would be to approve it, or the second option would be to not approve it and send it back to the IMO with some recommendations.

201

My question would be: What recommendations do you give to the IMO under these circumstances? Is the recommendation that when the government comes along and asks for your assistance in setting up a new entity, you say to the government, No, get lost, we can't deal with you. There's a certain ring of lack of practicality, in my respectful submission, about that.

202

So my submission is that instead of spending time on that, especially when the government could come along, if it so desired, and simply pass a regulation before the hearing, and this is then just a tempest in a teapot, why not focus at the hearing on the real issue, which is, given this memorandum of understanding, what will the impact be of the transfer, effectively, of this $15 million of the variance account on the operations of the IMO? Is the IMO going to be able to operate within budget? Will it have to make some cuts? Where are those cuts going to come? Will service levels still be maintained? All of those I see as very legitimate issues for purposes of this proceeding, which is why the IMO agreed to their inclusion on the issues list. But as a practical matter, in my respectful submission, that's where the time should be spent, rather than on questions of the appropriateness of the MOU or the authority of the IMO to enter into it. At the end of the day, in my submission, that just gets people nowhere.

203

And I guess, sir, what I'm really advocating is in constitutional law there's a doctrine called the "political questions" doctrine. That on most constitutional issues the courts can wade in and they can interpret to their hearts' content, but the courts do recognize that there are certain issues that are so political by their nature that they are not properly the subject of judicial review. I think a certain analogy can be drawn to this particular circumstance where you've got, I would call it, the government policy question or doctrine. Where the government has embarked upon a particular policy, it's made a decision, and in light of that, to question the appropriateness of that decision does not lie within the scope of a section 19.2 review of the Board.

204

So that, in a nutshell, is my submission on that second disputed issue.

205

MR. KAISER:
Thank you.

206

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Now, perhaps as an overarching submission which I should have made at the beginning but didn't, with respect to both issues, the IMO has a primary position and an alternative position. And perhaps I could ask you to turn to paragraph 26 of my written argue where those are set out.

207

With respect to both disputed issues the primary position of the IESO is that neither issue should be the subject matter of this proceeding. As an alternative, however, the IMO submits that each disputed issue could be treated as an issue upon which legal argument only might be made at the hearing of the proceeding.

208

And to explain that, I mean, as follows, to take the MOU, for example. If the Board determined that it would be appropriate to consider the issue of the appropriateness of the MOU, that that could be a discrete legal question that would be argued at the hearing. There would not be interrogatories or evidence led on that, it would be treated simply as a stand‑alone legal issue. And similarly with the one relating to the market evolution program.

209

I think that process or format has been used before at some of the gas rate hearings where some issues have been bracketed for legal argument only, and so that's what I would propose as a fallback. That's not my primary submission, my preferred route is not to have them on the issues list at all, but there is a middle ground between on the issues list and off the issues list. They could be on the issues list simply as a legal question for argument only at the hearing. So I wanted to make sure that the Board was clear on exactly what the IMO was submitting on that.

210

So those are my submissions on the second disputed issue. Why don't I ‑‑ unless there are questions by the Panel, I'll turn now to the first disputed issue.

211

MR. KAISER:
Just before you do that. I thought I heard you say that you recognized that there would be proper questions with respect to the impact of this transfer of funds, $15 million, on the future operations of your client; right? You don't object to those questions.

212

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
No. And indeed, sir, issue A1.1 and all of the subissues under that are largely directed towards that. Similarly, A2.2, scope of services provided to the OPA, is directed to that. And it's open to intervenors to ask otherwise, but I think they're pretty fully covered in those two issues.

213

MR. KAISER:
So isn't the issue ‑‑

214

MR. RODGER:
Excuse me, Mr. Chairman, for interrupting, but we're having a very difficult time hearing you, sir.

215

MR. KAISER:
Right. So isn't the issue today whether your client had the authority, or even the government had the authority, to effect this transfer? And it comes back to this question of whether they have followed ‑‑ the parties have followed the procedure contemplated by the statute, which, as you point out in your brief, there is a provision for regulations.

216

That's the narrow legal issue we're really dealing with today, isn't it?

217

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
I would frame it slightly differently, sir. I would frame it as follows:

218

Under section 19(2) of the Electricity Act, does it fall within the scope of review by the OEB in this proceeding to inquire into whether the IMO had the authority to enter into the MOU, or to inquire into the appropriateness of the transfer.

219

In my submission, the OEB doesn't stand as a court of law with free‑ranging powers to inquire into various questions. The scope of the OEB's review under section 19(2) is set by that section.

220

So I see it as really a scope of review of the OEB in this proceeding. That just happens to be the particular aspect of inquiry.

221

MR. KAISER:
So you would say that, under 19, the Board is limited to reviewing these proposed expenditures, and whether or not the IMO was acting illegally is irrelevant.

222

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Well, of course, I would dispute that the IMO is acting illegally.

223

MR. KAISER:
No, I know you would.

224

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
But I wouldn't put it that broadly. The particular issue has to be looked at in the context in which it has arisen.

225

This is not a request by a stranger for the IMO to cough up $15 million to go off on some sort of branch business. This was a request by the Ministry of Energy to assist in start‑up of another statutory organization, and to provide assistance to that. And that's the context in which the issue must be considered, not in some more abstract form, would be my submission.

226

MR. KAISER:
Okay. You want to go back to the first issue?

227

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Yes, I may as well get all of our positions out.

228

If I could go back, then, sir, to the first disputed issue, which is the Market Evolution Program. I've taken you to those elements of the 2005 pre‑filed evidence which outline the scope that remains of the Market Evolution Program. I do note on page 3 of my outline, paragraph 5, that this fees case is not the first time that the Market Evolution Program has been included within the IMO's business plan. Indeed, it was included in the 2004 IMO business plan.

229

And if you could turn with me to tab 7 of the brief, I have included there extracts from the pre‑filed evidence of the 2004 fees case, which was the business plan for that year, and pages 14 and 15 and 16 of that pre‑filed evidence describe the market evolution initiatives that were being undertaken by the IMO in 2004.

230

And dealing specifically with capital expenditures proposed for 2004, if you could turn to tab 5 of the brief, I've reproduced another part of the evidence from the 2004 proceeding, which was the 2004 capital budget details. And you'll see from the first line that last year the IMO had included $45 million of cap ex in its budget. And the breakdown was that, of that, 25 million was earmarked for the day‑ahead market.

231

Last year there was no hearing with respect to the proceeding. The proceeding was settled. And I think it's important that the Board be aware of the nature of that settlement. At tab 6 of my brief I have reproduced parts of the Board's 2004 fees case decision, which was styled RP‑2003‑0220, as well as the settlement agreement.

232

And perhaps, sir, if you could turn with me to the third page in, which has the heading "Board Findings." About a third of the way down the page, there's reference there to the settlement agreement. And in the fourth paragraph of Board findings, line 29 or so, the Board stated:

233

"The Board accepts the IMO's proposed 2004 budget of $156.2 million."

234

And then a few lines down:

235

"The Board also accepts the capital expenditures of $45 million."

236

And then, if you turn with me to the settlement agreement, which is a few pages on. Section 2 of the settlement agreement, which was page 4 of the settlement agreement, dealt with the 2004 capital expenditures. Part of them were non‑Market Evolution Program, or non‑DAM expenditures. But part of them, $25 million, were day‑ahead. And when you look through the agreement that was reached, the issue that was discussed amongst the intervenors and the IMO was not whether or not the IMO could go ahead with this particular program. The issue was: Prove to us that you're going to apply rigorous financial planning, budgeting and cost control when you go ahead with this program.

237

And so a number of undertakings were given by the IMO to report on expenditures, to describe the capital process and what‑not. And that, I think, is a fairly good example of the distinction that the IMO is trying to make in this case. It's up to the IMO to initiate discussion and work on changes to the IMO‑administered markets, but it's certainly open to this Board to review the financial rigour which is applied to the making of those expenditures.

238

So that was discussed by ‑‑ in the case last year, and approved by the Board, although, in the result, no capital expenditures were made in 2004 by the IMO in respect of the day‑ahead market. And so, initially, the capital expenditures proposed for 2005 included some of that.

239

Now, I've taken you through what, in fact, is now on the table for 2005, and, in monetary terms, it's not all that much. So the point of dispute between the parties really is more a point of dispute over principle. What is the scope ‑‑ what are the issues that this Board can look into on a section 19(2) application with respect to the Market Evolution Program?

240

On page 5 of my brief, paragraph 10, I have tried to set out what I understand to be the different views as to that scope of review under section 19(2).

241

The IMO's position is that, under 19(2), the OEB may review whether the amounts proposed for the Market Evolution Program are reasonable for the market evolution projects that the IESO plans to undertake.

242

As I understand the intervenors, they want to go further. They want to say, in addition ‑‑ they say, the OEB can review whether the IMO may undertake the proposed project, including when and how it may undertake such projects.

243

And it's at that point that we part company, and respectfully submit that, for the intervenors to adopt that provision misconstrues the role of the IMO and the role of the OEB with respect to the design of the IMO‑administered market under the Electricity Act.

244

The starting point for any such inquiry ‑ and I'm ad idem with Ms. DeMarco on this, because I think she has the same case in her brief ‑ is the Bell ExpressVu case: How do you interpret a statute? And what I have reproduced in paragraph 11 of my brief is the ratio of the Bell ExpressVu case with respect to the approach of statutory interpretation. And in that case, the Supreme Court of Canada said:

245

"Today there is only one principle or approach; namely, the words of an Act are to be read in their entire context and in their grammatical and ordinary sense, harmoniously with the scheme of the Act, the object of the Act, and the intention of Parliament."

246

My submission is that, under the Electricity Act, the scheme of the Act and the intention of the legislature is that there is a very clear division of labour between the IMO and the OEB when it comes to issues relating to the design of the IMO‑administered markets or the control of the IMO‑controlled grid.

247

And the division of labour is as follows, briefly put: The IMO is charged with establishing and making market rules, which embody new design, or amending existing design.

248

The OEB's role is twofold: First, once those market rules are published, there are a range of review powers under section 33 to 35 of the Act, where the OEB can revoke the rule, or, on the application of a person, review the rule.

249

The OEB also has a second discrete power, as a result of the changes made to Bill 100. And that is, that with the transfer of the market surveillance panel from the IMO to the OEB, the market surveillance panel may, during the course of its investigations, make recommendations about changes to the market rules. And the OEB is permitted under the Act to recommend those to the IMO and, in some cases, to order the IMO to invoke them. Those are the exceptional cases.

250

In the standard case of coming up with new things to put into the administrative markets or changing what's already there, it's the IMO that starts the ball rolling and makes market rules, and then the Board has a review function after the market rules are made.

251

MR. KAISER:
So is the day‑ahead market a subject of a market rule?

252

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
It will the subject of a market rule, Mr. Chair. The way the process is now undertaken before the IMO, and I've included some materials in here, and perhaps I could take you to them and just walk you through quickly. At tab 15 of the materials, there's reproduced part of Chapter 3 of the market rules. And you'll see at page 2, that section 4 of chapter 3 of the market rules contains very extensive rules on how you make and amend rules. The market rules themselves contain a procedure.

253

Then if you go to tab 16, there is a market manual published by the IMO which is, sort of, the second step down of documents published by the IMO. And it goes through the market rule procedure in some detail. And if you turn in three pages into tab 16, you'll see there a flowchart. And a lot of the IMO documents, since they're drafted by engineers, have these wonderful little flowcharts. But it takes you through the paper flow of what happens with something like day‑ahead market.

254

So the day‑ahead market could have been an idea that was mooted by some market participants and they could inquire under the IMO to look into designing that kind of market. The day‑ahead market could be something that IMO staff comes up with, or the IMO board of directors comes up with. But someone will come up with an idea, and then the process is that the IMO will take that idea and stakeholder it.

255

So in the case of the day‑ahead market, for example, sir, there was two years of stakeholdering which resulted in a strawman, a particular design that was proposed. And once that strawman or market design has been arrived at through that process, the next step is to actually craft the market rules that would implement that particular market program. And once those rules are crafted, then a branch of the IMO ‑ it's called the technical panel ‑ must take a look at those proposed market rules.

256

MR. KAISER:
Now, does it follow that you couldn't have proceeded with the day‑ahead market without creating a market rule for it?

257

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Yes, in essence. As a practical matter, you would need market rules to implement it. Just as ‑‑ the existing market rules, sir, with respect to the market, essentially are a set of rules dealing with the real‑time market, the instantaneous market. Just as you have a whole set of rules for the real‑time market, the day‑ahead market would have its own set of rules.

258

MR. KAISER:
Are there some expenditures that you need to encapsulate in a market rule and others that you don't?

259

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Well, the expenses relating to a market rule would be twofold. First, the whole process of considering a design idea and then stakeholdering it and drafting market rules takes staff money, staff time. So you're going to have some expenses associated with that process, before the technical panel even looks at the market rule and before the IMO board of directors looks at the market rule and decides whether or not to say nay or yea to it. So you've got those ‑ how would I call it ‑ inquiry and design kinds of expenses.

260

If the IMO, if the technical panel and then the IMO board of directors actually approve the market rule and say, Yes, this is a market that we want to put in place, then you have a second set of expenses. And those are the expenses for actually crafting and implementing the market.

261

Now, the IMO's essentially an information technology company, it's an IT company. So the lion's share of its expenses on the capital expenditure side are software. Just as they were for the market rules for the real‑time market, the lion's share for the capital expenditures for the day‑ahead market would be hiring vendors to actually design the software that could then interact with the real‑time software and off you go.

262

Those expenditures, as a matter of course, aren't undertaken until the IMO board of directors has approved the market rules, and then those market rules form the basis for the tenders that the IMO then sends out to the market and asks for responses or bids on those tenders.

263

MR. KAISER:
Well now, last year you had $25 million approved in your budget for the day‑ahead market.

264

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
In capital expenditures, yes.

265

MR. KAISER:
Right. And do I understand that you wouldn't have spent that until a market rule had been put in place?

266

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Until a market rule had been put in place and approved by the IMO board of directors. And indeed, precisely the sequence that led to the amendment was this: There was extensive stakeholdering last year, a strawman proposal for the design of the market was reached upon, I think, in May or so. I may be off by a few months, but the middle part of the year. There were then further discussions amongst a special working group that was called the day‑ahead market working group, which comprised both IMO and market participants. There were further discussions upon this strawman, and to the best of my knowledge ‑‑ were the market rules actually crafted and submitted?

267

MR. SHALABY:
They were.

268

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
So market rules were actually crafted and submitted, but there were comments on those by market participants which then led the board of directors and the IMO in December to say, Well, we aren't going to go ahead with this project now. We want you, IMO staff, to go back, listen to what the market participants have said. Are there other ways, other less‑costly ways, perhaps, of achieving the same objectives as the objectives of the day‑ahead market?

269

So the IMO board had before it draft rules, but it did not approve the rules. And indeed, those rules won't be approved until the IMO board of directors is satisfied that the market is designed in such a way as to be appropriate. And then at that point in time, you then actually get into the actual expenditure of capital expenditures after the IMO board of directors has approved the market rule. So that's the way the matter proceeds.

270

Now, as I understand ‑‑ and just one final point on the formalities of the process. The technical panel is a panel of the IMO. The IMO, under its statute, has the authority to set up panels, and I think I've ‑‑ yes, I've reproduced that at tab 14. One of the panels that it has set up is the technical panel. The IMO has something called a "governance and structure by‑law", which is specifically recognized in the statute and approved by the Minister. And in the governance by‑law, the technical panel is vested with the authority of reviewing proposed market rule changes.

271

So really, at the IMO you have a three‑fold process. You have initial discussion and stakeholdering and strawmaning of the market design proposal. You then have discussions at the technical panel, and the technical panel must say yea or nay to proposed market rules, and then they go to the IMO board of directors for approval. And only when that is done does the IMO begin the capital expenditures. There are, of course, some ongoing operational expenditures through that whole process, and they are largely staffing, although there may be some consultants that are brought in at various stages.

272

And then in terms of the scheme of the Act, the IMO is authorized under the Act to make and establish market rules. And perhaps I could take you to tab 13 of my brief to show you where, in my submission, the delineation between the IMO's role and the OEB's role comes into play. At tab 13 I've reproduced sections 32 to 35 of the Electricity Act, black‑lined to reflect the changes made by Bill 100. So what you see there is the previous Act and any black‑lines are what's been implemented or changed by Bill 100.

273

And you'll see from section 32(1) of the Act that: "The IESO may make rules governing the IESO‑controlled market," and then in subsection B, "establishing and governing markets related to electricity and ancillary services."

274

And then the statute sets out a process that, before making ‑‑ before actually making rules, once Bill 100 has come into force, if you go to page 2 under what is now section 32(6), a new amendment made by Bill 100 is that: "The IESO shall not make a rule under this section unless it first gives the Board an assessment of the impact of the rule on the interests of consumers with respect to prices and the reliability and quality of electricity service."

275

So there's now a notice requirement that the IMO must give some pre‑board approval of a rule to the OEB.

276

Once the rule has been made, that is, once the rule has been approved, however, by the IMO board of directors, the rule is then published, and then sections 33 and 34 put in place a statutory scheme with respect to that review.

277

And it gets somewhat messy with the black‑lining. So what I have tried to do, sir, in my outline of argument, at page 7 in paragraph 15(b), is to summarize what the OEB is authorized to do once the IMO board of directors has approved a market rule. And you'll see from paragraph 15(b) there are a number of things.

278

The OEB has, I would call it, an unfettered power to revoke any amended market rule within 15 days of its publication, and refer the amendment back to the Board. That is something that the OEB can do on its own motion.

279

Then, in (iv), the OEB can also respond to persons who would like a review made of the amended market rule. And you'll see from (iv) that the OEB may review a market rule amendment on the application of any person within 21 days of its publication. And, if it finds that an amendment, and I'm quoting from the statute, "is inconsistent with the purposes of this Act or unjustly discriminates against or in favour of a market participant, or a class of market participants," they may revoke the amendment and send it back to the IMO for further consideration.

280

And that it may do with respect to an amendment of a market rule, or, with respect to any existing market rule, a person directly affected by the rule has the right to apply to this Board before I think it's May of this year, according to the statute, for a similar kind of review.

281

So the division of labour that sections 32 to 35 of the Electricity Act set out is the OEB, IESO, which the government speaks of, were at one time ‑‑ the IESO can establish and make rules regarding the markets, and then the OEB has the power to review those rules once made.

282

As I said, there's one additional part to the OEB's jurisdiction, and I've reproduced that as paragraph 15(a) of the brief. And that is, that the OEB does have powers that flow from investigations made by the market surveillance panel. If you make recommendations for amendment of the rules, or if there's a finding of an abuse of market power, the OEB may direct the IESO to amend a rule. So that's a second discrete category of power.

283

MR. KAISER:
Do you think that section 32(6), the new subsection, gives any further strength to your argument?

284

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Well, it would, in the sense that what the statute contemplates now is that it expressly says, before the IESO can make a rule, it must give a notice of assessment to the OEB.

285

I've included in my brief an extract from Driedger on statutory interpretation for the general proposition that, where you've got, arguably, conflicting provisions in a statute, or between statutes, the general must give way to the specific.

286

And my submission would be that, in sections 32 to 35, you have very specific delineations of roles between the IMO and the OEB with respect to market rules. There's a pre‑making of the rule notice requirement, and then there's a subsequent review power on the part of the OEB. That's very specific. And therefore ‑‑

287

MR. KAISER:
Do you know why this new subsection was put in? Did you do any research on that? Why did the government add this?

288

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
My belief, sir, and it's simply a belief, is ‑‑ yes, if you can ‑‑ first of all, I haven't done any research, so this is just informed speculation. If you would turn to page 3 at tab 13 of what was the old section 32(9), it's all blacked out now, it's lined out. But you'll see under the previous incarnation of the Electricity Act a similar notice to the Minister, a provision was in. So my speculation is, they've removed the Minister from it, they've transferred it to the OEB, and that's why you've got the notice provision.

289

MR. KAISER:
So, essentially, it was always there?

290

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Yes. Although that is a Bill 210 ‑‑ I think it was a Bill 210 enactment. I don't think it was there in the first rules. But it's all this after things blew up in the fall of 2002.

291

So where you've got these very specific sort of division of powers with respect to market design and market rules, in my submission, they're the ones that prevail. And, therefore, one can't go back, as some of the intervenors are trying to do, and read into section 19(2) some broad power of the OEB to look into the merits of a proposed amendment to the market design or market rules. That's not for the OEB to do in that particular proceeding. The OEB has lots to do once the rule is about to be made, and then made, but not as part of a fees case.

292

So that is my legal argument, that there's a statutory scheme that must be taken into account when you are interpreting the scope of review under section 19(2) of the Act.

293

The other part of the statutory scheme, apart from this section 32 to 35 part, that you have to take into account is the new addition from Bill 100, which is to say to the IMO, Before you file a fees case in any year, you have to get your ‑‑ you have to submit your business plan to the Minister and get the Minister to sign off on the business plan before you take the step of going to the Board.

294

And if you could go back with me to tab 2 of my brief, that business plan aspect of it is in the new section 19.1.

295

Now, perhaps I could take you to the history of this, since it's the first time. If you go with me to tab 3, where I've got sections 18 and 19 black‑lined to reflect amendments by Bill 100, you will see that there used to be a section 19.1.1, which has been stroked out. And that old 19.1.1, which actually initially governed this proceeding, was that "the IMO shall not submit anything to the Board under subsection 1 without the approval of the Minister."

296

And so what was done in this case is that ‑‑ traditionally what the IMO has submitted to the Board for approval has been its business plan. What the IMO did back in October of 2004 was to submit its business plan to the Minister. What was the practice back then has now really been codified by statute. So if you go back to tab 2, section 19.1 now requires the IMO to get approval of the Minister for its business plan before sending it to the Board.

297

For all intents and purposes, it did it in this case. And if I could take you to tab 4 of my brief, I've reproduced the Minister's letter of November 3, 2004, that was filed along with the application to the OEB. And I've gone to it before, but you'll see in the first paragraph the Minister thanks the IMO for forwarding the business plan for consideration, and significantly, the second paragraph says two things: First, the Minister says:

298

"I appreciate the ongoing efforts of the IMO to support the implementation of our electricity policy initiatives."

299

And the MOU is simply a reflection of that. And then the second sentence:

300

"The priorities set out in the business plan are consistent with the government initiatives, including the development of a day‑ahead market."

301

And in the third paragraph, the Minister specifically notes that:

302

"The capital expenditures for a day‑ahead market will be included in that submission."

303

In my respectful submission, that process, and what the Minister says, also has to inform the scope of review under section 19(2) of the Electricity Act, because now you have a sequence whereby the IMO internally develops a business plan which includes proposed capital expenditures and it must send it to the Ministry, and then the Minister has the opportunity to vet that to determine whether or not the plan is consistent with government policy.

304

One would have to expect that, if the Minister has some great difficulty with the day‑ahead market, the Minister would have said something to the IMO when he got that plan. But, indeed, the contrary happened: The Minister indicated that the day‑ahead market was consistent with the government's objectives and initiatives, even under the new Bill 100. So it's only after the business plan has received that vetting by the Ministry that it then comes to the OEB.

305

And so, coming back to this distinction I tried to make between the need for a new element of market design and the reasonable costs associated with that new market design, I think the structure of the Act, as a whole, indicates that the need question is one that is addressed by the IMO, and the Minister has the opportunity to assess that as part of a section 19.1 review. And, if the Minister gives the green light, then what the OEB is to do is to take a look at the reasonableness of the costs or their proportionality. The IMO then proceeds with the project. And then, once you get to the point of approval of market rules by the IMO, the OEB comes back into the process with notice requirements and then supervise, review.

306

But that's the division of labour, in my respectful submission, that flows from the scheme of the Act when taken as a whole.

307

MR. KAISER:
And your position would be the same even if the Minister in his letter of November 3rd hadn't specifically mentioned the day‑ahead market?

308

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Yes, because presumably the Minister reviews it to see whether there's anything in the business plan that is generally offside. And there are two things that could be offside, you are doing something that you shouldn't be doing, and the second thing that's offside could well be, Jeez, the price ticket that you're asking for is a bit high, guys, perhaps you should rethink that.

309

MR. KAISER:
So in every case where we are reviewing under this section, by definition the Minister has to approve the business plan; correct?

310

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Either approve or deem to approve.

311

MR. KAISER:
Right, and once that's done, regardless of the language of the letter, you say the only thing we can look at is the amount of the expenditures.

312

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
The reasonableness of the costs for the projects that are proposed.

313

MR. KAISER:
But we can't question the actual initiative.

314

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
That's right.

315

MR. KAISER:
The decision to spend some appropriate amount.

316

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Correct. As I say, the OEB then comes back into the equation once a market rule is made. But even ‑‑ I'll leave it at that.

317

So with respect to what I understand some of the intervenors are attempting to do, they're trying to inject into section 19(2), into this particular proceeding, a new power which would allow the Board, essentially, to say, Look, IMO, before you even start thinking about this ‑ take the day‑ahead market, for example ‑ we, the OEB, think it's a bad idea. So don't even look at that. And in my respectful submission, that's just not consistent with the context of the Act.

318

Not only is it not consistent with the context of the Act, it then raises the practical question of: Where is the stakeholdering done for amendments to the market rules? Do all of a sudden people come to the OEB when they don't like the way IMO stakeholdering is going and say: OEB, why don't you set up a parallel process to stakeholder this amendment to the market rule? I mean, it's completely impractical, but more importantly, out of kilter with the scheme of the Act.

319

MR. KAISER:
No, we understand your position with respect to the review of a rule after the rule is published. But coming back to this 32(6), this is before the rule is made. You're now required to provide the Board with an assessment of the impact of the rule on the interests of consumers with respect to prices and reliability and quality of electricity service. Have you contemplated that assessment would be available to other parties, such as these intervenors, or do you know?

320

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
I'm speculating here, but I would have to assume that with this new provision, that the sequence would be as follows. Stakeholder, technical panel, and then when it comes to the IMO board of directors, part of the package of materials going to the board of directors would have to be some sort of assessment of this impact of the rule.

321

MR. KAISER:
I don't care about the board of directors. This is the assessment report that you are required to file with the Board prior to making the rule.

322

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Yes, but ‑‑ precisely. A long‑winded way of coming to the point. The materials relating to a change in the market rules are all transparent. They're published by the IMO at every step of the way. So for example, if one looks at proposed market rule amendments that are before the technical panel, those are available on the website, not only what the market rule is proposed to be but the rationale for the market rule. I can only assume that with this new addition, sir, there would be a third section, which would be this assessment. The process has been completely transparent.

323

MR. KAISER:
And you referred to us earlier a section that third parties, if they weren't happy with the rule, could apply to the Board.

324

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Correct.

325

MR. KAISER:
So it would follow that we now have this new section, subsection 6, where an assessment is required to be filed with the Board which would be available to third parties. And if they didn't like it or didn't agree with it you would say they could make an application to the Board at that point and trigger a proceeding for review even prior to the rule being enacted. Or am I ‑‑

326

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
No. The way the statute reads is that that right to apply for review must be made within 21 days after the market rule has been published.

327

MR. KAISER:
So they wouldn't have an ability to, even though this assessment is to be made available before the rule was enacted, they wouldn't have any ability to initiate a proceeding until the rule had been passed and published by you.

328

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Correct. And what is of interest is that the assessment under 32(6), which is the impact of the rule on the interests of consumers with respect to prices and the reliability and quality of service, is not the same as the issues that the OEB can look into if that person comes to it and asks for a review of the amendment.

329

If you go to page 5 of tab 13 and look at what is section 33(9). This is where a third party has come to the Board and asked for review within 21 days. It says: "If on completion of its review the Board finds that the amendment is inconsistent with the purposes of the Act or unjustly discriminates against or in favour of a participant or class of market participants, then the Board shall make an order."

330

So that section seems to set out the standard of review or the questions that this Board can ask when it's asked by the a third party to review a rule. And I simply note that it's not the same as a notice.

331

MR. SOMMERVILLE:
Or does so on its own motion. The Board can do so on its own motion.

332

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
The Board on its own motion, indeed, can do so and can revoke a rule without reasons, without hearing, within 15 days or something.

333

MR. SOMMERVILLE:
The timing of these issues, Mr. Brown. It seems to me that the new requirement is that there be a filing with the Board or a publication, rather, of the market rule 22 days prior to its coming into effect. And my question has to do with one of the questions that the Chair engaged in a little bit before, has to do with when these expenditures are made. A market rule that is published today comes into effect 22 days from now, and it presumably is fairly mature, because of the process that's been undertaken to produce the rule, a very mature and very detailed expression of the IESO's intention with respect to, let's say, a Market Evolution Program like the DAM. And what is the opportunity, the realistic opportunity, at that point to change that architecture represented in the market rule at the 11th hour within that 22‑day period, from publication to enactment, when there's been a substantial process that's gone before. It's a very mature, very detailed, very ‑‑ I would expect a very ‑‑ well, very detailed program. How do we reconcile that? Is that a realistic opportunity to correct what may be a fundamental flaw in that rule?

334

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Well, if I could come back to my distinction between operational expenses and capital expenditures. The IMO now has had several years of experience in dealing with outside venders. And going back to the first case, the year 2000 case, which in large part involved getting the real‑time market up and running, there was a significant increase from the initial application for capital expenditure approvals and the final approval. In large part because the IMO has found that unless you really have the market rules crafted and designed, you risk before then if you go out to software vendors just to get quotes. And so the approach that the IMO board of directors is now taking is, we want to finalize the market rules so we know exactly what's going to happen before going out and getting bids in from outside software support.

335

Which means, coming back to your point of timing, Mr. Sommerville, in terms of the 22 days, the RFP process, and certainly any binding contract with software and therefore capital expenditures, isn't going to take place until the board of directors has approved the rule. And that process takes time, and 22 days is ample time if the Board seeks on its own motion to revoke.

336

So there's comfort there in terms of the discipline that the IMO brings to this process; that is, we aren't going to commit to significant capital expenditures until we're really certain what the rules are going to be. Now, of course, there will be operational expenses that are designed to investigate, design and that sort of stuff, but that's not where major ticket items are in this process.

337

MR. SOMMERVILLE:
Thank you.

338

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Brown, will this be a convenient time to take the morning break?

339

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Yes, it will be, sir.

340

‑‑‑ Recess taken at 11:15 a.m.

341

‑‑‑ On resuming at 11:30 a.m.

342

MR. KAISER:
Please be seated.

343

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Mr. Chair, two brief points, and then I'm done.

344

First, to clarify the scope of the Board's review power once a market rule has been published, it was pointed out to me that the Board's power was broader than I had described it. I had described it that the Board could revoke within 15 days or, on the application of a third party, the Board could review.

345

It was quite properly pointed out to me that the Board, on its own motion, can initiate a review. It can revoke, but at the same time it can also initiate a review. And, just for reference, I think that's section 33(5) of the new Act.

346

And my second and final point is just to finish up on this contested issue number 1. In summary, the IMO's submission is that, under the Electricity Act, the IESO is vested with the primary statutory role of designing changes to the IMO‑administered markets, and the OEB is vested with the authority to review, and that it would be an inappropriate interpretation of section 19(2) to expand that section to enlarge the power of the Ontario Energy Board in the area of the design of the IESO‑administered markets.

347

And subject to any questions, those are my submissions.

348

MR. KAISER:
Two questions, Mr. Brown. In this case, are you prepared to undertake that no capital expenditures would be incurred with respect to the day‑ahead market without enacting a market rule?

349

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Certainly, my instructions are that the IESO would be prepared to undertake to the Board that, with respect to major capital expenditures relating to the Market Evolution Program, the IESO would not commit to capital expenditures to implement the day‑ahead market until the IMO board of directors had approved the market rules and published that result.

350

I say "major" because, if we're in the realm of 400,000, 600,000, that to my mind is really getting into managerial discretion. But in something like the day‑ahead market, where the numbers are significant, yes, an undertaking along the lines that I have indicated is something the IMO is prepared to do.

351

And indeed, just on that point, sir, in its submission for review, or its application in this proceeding, the IMO did place certain conditions on the request it was making. Perhaps I could turn you to that, just to show you.

352

MR. KAISER:
Thank you.

353

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
If you would turn with me, please, to tab 8, I have reproduced the submission for review that initiated this proceeding.

354

If you go to page 2 of 5 of the IESO's submission for review, you'll see in paragraph 4, the third bullet point, it was requesting approval for $37 million for the day‑ahead market, subject to some conditions: IMO board of directors' approval ‑ and as I've described, that, of course, would require an approval of the market rule ‑ and also a variance requirement; if the expenditures were going to vary more than 20 percent, I think it is, they would come back to the Board.

355

So I think the form of undertaking that you were suggesting, sir, and that I gave back, would be the sort of thing that could fit in there.

356

MR. KAISER:
Now, we could fit it in simply by saying "approval by the IMO board of directors and the establishment of a market rule relating to such capital expenditures."

357

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Yes, I think, again, the publication, probably, of a market rule ‑‑ I think the publication is the triggering act under the Act.

358

MR. KAISER:
Thank you.

359

MR. LYLE:
Mr. Chair, if I could just speak to that point. Perhaps it also should await the completion of any review under section 33, as well.

360

MR. KAISER:
Yes. That's a good point, Mr. Lyle.

361

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Well, I do not have instructions on that.

362

MR. KAISER:
No. Perhaps you can think about that as we proceed further.

363

Mr. Warren, are you up next?

364

MR. WARREN:
Depends on how you want to proceed, sir. My client's interest is with respect to the second of the two contested issues, that is, what I'll call the memorandum of understanding issue. I don't know whether you want to deal with the submissions with respect to the contested issues in the order in which they appear? Or you just want to walk through all of us, in which case, if it's the latter, sir, I'm happy to go.

365

MR. KAISER:
Well, let's deal with them in order. So you're not speaking to issue number 1?

366

MR. WARREN:
I'm not, sir.

367

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Rodger?

368

MR. VEGH:
Sorry, if I can be of assistance to the Panel, sir, with the list of disputed issues, there is a key sponsor among the intervenors for each of them. So, on the issue of what we call the section 19 review, the key sponsor is AMPCO, and on the issue of the memorandum of understanding, the key sponsor is the Consumers Council of Canada.

369

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Rodger?

370

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. RODGER ON DISPUTED ISSUES:


371

MR. RODGER:
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

372

AMPCO's submissions are divided into the following five parts. Firstly, the disputed issue in the context of section 19.

373

MR. KAISER:
Do you have any written material, Mr. Rodger?

374

MR. RODGER:
I'm sorry, sir?

375

MR. KAISER:
Do you have any written material?

376

MR. RODGER:
I just have an excerpt from a former settlement conference which I've provided copies to the Board at the front, and that's it, sir.

377

So the first part is the disputed issue in the context of section 19 of the Electricity Act, 1998; secondly, AMPCO's position on how the Board should interpret its authority under section 19; thirdly, the OEB November 24, 2004 notice of application; fourth, guidance to be found in past IMO applications and OEB findings; and finally, the impact of Bill 100 on this entire matter.

378

I don't think I'll be all that long, Mr. Chairman, in my submissions. I think AMPCO's views are pretty straightforward in positions on this. But just to remind the Board, at the outset, that we're not here today to determine the merits of the issue, but simply whether this is an issue for this proceeding.

379

And perhaps I could start by just actually reading the disputed issue into the record. It's entitled: "2005 Expenditure and Revenue Requirement, MEP" for Market Evolution Program:

380

"Can the Board decide whether, when and how the IMO should undertake the activities associated with the Market Evolution Program, rather than limiting the Board's review to whether the expenditures and revenue requirement associated with the Market Evolution Program activities are reasonable? If so, whether, when and how should the IMO undertake the Market Evolution Program and incur the associated costs?"

381

Now, my friend took you through, in his submissions, the section 19(1) approval of the Minister to submit the application to this Board.

382

And in section 19(2), you'll recall the Board's powers are to ‑‑ may approve the proposed requirements and the proposed fees or may refer them back to the IESO for further consideration with the Board's recommendations.

383

And it's AMPCO's view that the Board can do three distinct things under this section. It may, firstly, approve the proposed requirements; secondly, it may propose the proposed fees; and thirdly, refer the requirements and fees back with recommendations to the Board.

384

So I would state Mr. Brown's intervenor's position in his materials a little bit differently than he worded it. I would have the issue phrased as whether IESO's funding request is an appropriate requirement, and whether the fees that result therefrom are also appropriate. That, really, is the test and the question that you're asking yourselves in this proceeding.

385

Now, to summarize my friend's position, it's basically that these three distinct adjudicative provisions in section 19(2) really only mean one thing: That the OEB's authority is really restricted to looking at the arithmetic associated with the charges, the quantum of the charges. But, really, beyond the numbers, the reasonableness of the numbers or the activities, the rationale, that that really is irrelevant for this Panel. You can accept the math or, presumably, you can refer the matter back to the Board to recalculate, but that's it.

386

And in AMPCO's view, we would urge the Board to reject this. If the Board only had the authority to approve quantum, then section 19(2) would clearly have said that, that this approvals deal with fees, and the amount of fees, only. Period.

387

In AMPCO's view, the Board cannot divorce the fees requested from the basis of why the fees ought to be charged in the first place. It is not the Board's practice in any of its proceedings that I'm aware of to decide fees and rates in some kind of vacuum. The Board must be able to assess whether the program or activity is reasonable and appropriate for IMO to undertake before it has enough information to determine whether the charges should be paid by Ontario consumers. And thus the burden or the onus of proof remains on IMO to show that both the requirement and the fees are appropriate.

388

Now, AMPCO's view on how section 19(2) should be interpreted. In our view, the section reflects a two‑sided coin. The first side is that you look at activities, you look at requirements that seek to be funded. In this specific case, the direct issue under the Market Evolution Program is the RAM, as you've heard, or the resource adequacy market, or as it's also been described in the evidence, the "long‑term resource adequacy," as described on page 36 of the pre‑filed evidence. And that RAM represents one component of the IMO's requirements, which section 19 refers to. And the other side of the coin, then, is the actual revenue that is sought to pay for the requirements, in this case, RAM, and formerly DAM, while that was part of the application.

389

So in our view, you should look at both requirements and charges and make an assessment on ‑‑ in Mr. Brown's words, proportionality or reasonableness on both those counts and not just amount.

390

Now, how to interpret section 19(2). Have the courts, for example, judicially considered this section? We conducted a review to see whether the courts have done so, and they haven't. They have not. So what else can we look to to determine this matter? Well, Mr. Brown has already made reference to the notice from the Board of this application, which was dated November 24th, 2004. And if you go to that last paragraph on the first page of the notice, again it reads:

391

"The Board has determined it will hold a hearing in this matter. The hearing process will be addressed in subsequent procedural orders. The Board may hold a settlement process to address the issues in the proceeding. However, regardless of the terms of a settlement proposal, the Board has determined that the following areas should be addressed in the hearing." And the first bullet is "the Market Evolution Program and its associated costs."

392

And in AMPCO's view, the Board has split this item in two parts to reflect section 19, that the program itself is something that should be subject to scrutiny by intervenors, and then the costs associated with the program should also be reviewed. So it's little wonder, in my suggestion, that AMPCO and others came to the issues settlement conference last week fully anticipating that the program itself would be part of this application.

393

So in our view ‑‑ and you need to see both parts of the coin, in my view, in order for the Board to satisfy its consumer protection mandate by which it brings to all applications, whether it's fees in this case or a gas case or an LDC case. That's something within which the whole application must be assessed. And I would add that even under Bill 100 you still have that fundamental section 1 objective to protect the interests of consumers with respect to prices.

394

So we have the notice and we have, with respect, the Board's expectation of what this hearing is going to be about. Now, can we look at past IMO applications and OEB findings? That might also help. And I think we can find assistance from past decisions, both in terms of activities for which funds are required and the quantum relating to those activities. And my friend has already made reference to the use of settlement agreements, and as I've just read in this notice that's something that's contemplated here as well. Now, if you look at some past settlement agreements, and here is the reference to the handout that I've circulated, it's the settlement agreement from the year 2002 P submission, RP 2001‑0046. And perhaps we could mark this as an exhibit, Mr. Vegh. So it's Exhibit 3.

395

ISSUES DAY EXHIBIT 3:
SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT FROM RP‑2001‑0046

396

MR. RODGER:
And if you could turn to page 3 of this settlement agreement, the top paragraph, it goes to show that the flavour of what was being reviewed by the stakeholders and the applicant in this agreement that was ultimately adopted by the Board. And the top paragraph reads:

397

"This settlement proposal was prepared in accordance with rule 39 in the settlement guidelines. The settlement proposal accordingly describes the agreements reached on the settled issues, including the rationale, and provides a direct and transparent link between each settlement and the supporting evidence in the record to date. In this regard, the parties agree that the evidence provided with the IMO submission for review is sufficient to support the settlement proposal in relation to the settled issues. Moreover, the quality and the detail of the supporting evidence, together with the corresponding rationale, will allow the Board to make findings on the settled issues."

398

And if you look at the range of requirements, activities, that went on, you'll see that they go well beyond looking at the mere numbers. If you turn the page to page 4 you will see, for example, the requirement of benchmarking was canvassed with the intervenors. This was referenced in the business plan. Performance management, likewise, well beyond the numbers to the actual activities that were involved. And same on the next page, page 5, capital expenditures.

399

Now, on page 6 there's actually a breakdown of proposed ‑‑ an illustrative group of projects that may go forward. And to illustrate the point, my friend's quite right when he said that this really is the first time this scoping issue has come up, because there has been settlement agreements in the past. But that's no basis, in our submission, for the Board to decide then that there is no scope to deal with this activities issue, whether that's part of the section 19. It's simply the case that it hasn't come up before.

400

And as an example on page 6, there's one requirement identified as transmission rights enhancements. Well, it's AMPCO's submission that if we didn't come to an agreement on this particular program, this particular capital expenditure, then it would have been eligible for AMPCO to say this should be a contested issue for that hearing to see whether this is the kind of thing that IMO should be undertaking. So that's what we have from the 2002 fees case.

401

Now, I don't have a copy of it, but I'd also like to just read briefly the Board finding of the ‑‑ a year prior decision of the Board in the IMO fees case for the year 2000. This is RP‑1999‑0049. And once again, in that case there was a settlement conference, all the issues were agreed to. And I just wanted to read the one paragraph of the Board's findings on page 3 of that decision in that application. And it reads as follows:

402

"The Board has reviewed the settlement agreement and the supporting documentation. The Board is satisfied that the agreed upon revenue requirement of $93.4 million is the result of a reasonable process and on the basis of the evidence is a reasonable amount. The results of the settlement proposal are accepted by the Board."

403

And my point here is that in order for the Board to accept that, they had to be satisfied that there was a fulsome review amongst the parties of both the fees and the activities themselves. It would seem strange to me that somehow ‑‑ you could think of these settlement conferences as almost a hearing within a hearing, but it would seem to me an odd result if the settlement discussions amongst the intervenors were somehow broader and more encompassing than what ultimately is brought before the Board. And that is not the case. There is a fulsome discussion, and to date we've been able to settle on it, but that doesn't mean that issues that were disputed would not therefore be brought to the Board as an issue in individual applications.

404

Now, why is this issue so important for this proceeding? And the answer is that Bill 100 has changed what are the IMO's legitimate requirements. And that's why you have to review them as an issue in this proceeding. I agree with my friend, Mr. Brown, when he talks about the division of labour between OPA, IMO, and OEB. We say, Exactly. And the IMO's rules and requirements and obligations have changed. And the Board should take that into account.

405

In our view, under Bill 100, the RAM requirement, in particular, becomes an activity that the IMO should no longer be pursuing. In ther words, in our view, RAM is no longer a legitimate section 19 requirement. Accordingly, it should be open for AMPCO and other intervenors at this proceeding to test the basis and need and expenditures for that particular activity.

406

Now, let's briefly recall what RAM is. If you look at page 7 of the pre‑filed evidence, the 2005‑2007 business plan, it's described as:
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"A resource adequacy market would address the need for longer‑term commitments for new power generation and demand management to meet the province's need over the coming decades."

408

On page 6 of the pre‑filed evidence, again, the 2005‑2007 business plan, it indicates that the 2003‑2005 business plan ‑‑ that's where the Market Evolution Program was outlined to deal with both near‑term, short‑term, and longer‑term requirements. However, unlike the statutory context when that 2003 plan was created, the world is now different for IMO as a result of Bill 100.

409

Now, if you look ‑ and I'll just read briefly ‑ if you look now at section 5(1) of Bill 100, the Electricity Act, it describes some new objects for the IESO. And 5(1)(f) reads as follows:

410

"To collect and provide to the Ontario Power Authority and the public, information relating to current and short‑term electricity needs of Ontario, and the adequacy and reliability of the integrated power system to meet those needs."
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The IMO's authority is now reduced to current and short‑term needs, but not long‑term planning. So when my friend talks about how this is somehow beyond the jurisdiction, because the IMO has to deal with market design, and they have the market rules, my view is, the Board has to first look at the objects of the OPA and the objects of the IMO. And in our view, it would be inappropriate for having any kind of program or activity which goes beyond the objects of the organization in question.

412

When you look at the objects now of the new entity, the Ontario Power Authority, you will see in section 25.2(1)(a), the objects of the OPA are, "to forecast electricity demand and the adequacy and reliability of electricity resources for Ontario in the medium and long term."

413

So we've had a change of focus of who does what. And this change in legislative context is the starting point for the requirements and the fees application.

414

So, in our view, sir, the OEB ‑‑ section 19(2) itself deals with two distinct things: It is quantum, but it's also the requirements, the reason why IMO is asking for revenue that translates into charges, and it's not just the quantum.

415

The OEB itself correctly anticipated that the Market Evolution Program would form part of this hearing, along with the costs of that program. Past OEB decisions involving IMO applications ‑ settlement conferences, in particular ‑ all point, in my view, to the need to review beyond the numbers to the actual activities themselves. And Bill 100 underscores this need in an even more important way now that the activities of IMO are being constrained, and there is a broader entity, new entity, to deal with the kind of issues ‑‑ what I submit RAM is intended to deal with, and that is longer term planning issues.

416

And for an example, we would submit that one of the potential outcomes of this case for RAM is for the OEB to not approve it, and to send it back to the IMO Board saying, you know, Bill 100, the world has changed; go back and question whether this really is an appropriate activity for you or not. That could be an appropriate recommendation under section 19.

417

And the bottom line for AMPCO is that consumers should not be forced to pay for activities or fees incurred where there is a question, a fundamental question, on jurisdiction to do the activity to start with.

418

Just one final point. My friend, Mr. Brown, had proposed what was, basically, an alternate relief, that if you did find that this issue, as described in the contested issue, should be part of the hearing but only be dealt with in final argument, we would oppose that. AMPCO believes that the Board should decide that this is either in or not. And by simply making it the subject of final argument says that it's relevant, but it doesn't allow us any opportunity to test the evidence in cross‑examination or interrogatories. And our argument would be that if it's part of this hearing appropriately, then it's an issue just like all the others, and we should be allowed to test it.

419

And those are AMPCO's submissions, sir.

420

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, Mr. Rodger.

421

Any other parties wish to make submissions on this point? Ms. DeMarco?

422

SUBMISSIONS BY MS. DeMARCO ON DISPUTED ISSUES:


423

MS. DeMARCO:
Thank you, Mr. Chair.

424

Let me first mark ‑‑ I believe it's Exhibit 4, a series of materials that I've provided to Board counsel. I'm not sure if you've got a copy of those materials. And they will support the oral submissions that I'm making today. They're entitled "Compendium Materials in Support of TransAlta and APPrO."

425

ISSUES DAY EXHIBIT NO. 4:
COMPENDIUM MATERIALS IN SUPPORT OF TRANSALTA AND APPRO

426

MS. DeMARCO:
My submissions are divided into two parts. The first part pertains to the interesting process that the Board finds itself in today, which will be a series of short submissions, and the second part is dealing with the substance of the issue as it's framed by Mr. Brown.

427

In relation to the unique process the Board finds itself in today, we would generally expect that, on Issues Day, the Board would be determining, strictly, whether or not an issue would be included in the context of an Issues List, and would be considering elements such as its relevance, its ripeness, and whether or not it would assist the Board in discharging its duties under the application as a whole.

428

So I will go through and try and address those specific issues for the Board.

429

But, interestingly enough, the Board finds itself also in a position where it's being asked to review on, or to determine, half of the substance of the issue, as well. And that half pertains strictly to the legal jurisdiction of the Board, in the context of the first disputed issue, pertaining to the Board's jurisdiction to review activities under the MEP.

430

It's my understanding that the Board in this context is not being asked to determine the scope of the Board's legal jurisdiction with respect to the Market Evolution Program in the context of both the law and the facts of the evidence submitted by the applicant. And, in fact, there have been no specific references to the facts associated with the costs, expenditures and fees associated with the Market Evolution Program that have been submitted today.

431

And it's our submission that the Board effectively is precluded from making that determination, pursuant to section 21(2) of the OEB Act, which is set out at tab 3, on what's noted as page 8 of our materials. And that section indicates that:
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"Subject to any provision to the contrary in this or any other Act, the Board shall not make an order under this or any other Act until it has held a hearing after giving notice in such manner and to such persons as the Board may direct."

433

So, to the extent that the Board is being asked by the applicant to effectively determine the substance of the issue today, in the absence of a full hearing pertaining to the evidence and facts related to the law, it may, in fact, be constrained from doing so today through the operation of section 21(2) of the OEB Act.

434

It's on that basis that we will proceed to look at, first, whether or not the issue should be included on the Issues List; and second, the subject of the legal substantive issue, and that is the scope of the Board's legal jurisdiction.

435

So in terms of relevance and inclusion on the issues list, TransAlta and APPrO submit that the proposed issue certainly worthy of inclusion on the issues list and that it is relevant. It's expressly identified in the Board's notice of application. It's ultimately involved in a determination of whether or not the fees and expenditures associated with the Market Evolution Program should be approved or referred back to the IESO, and it's necessary as the new scope of the Board's and the IMO's jurisdiction has yet to be tested under Bill 100. It's also very ripe.

436

Bill 100 was passed on December 14, and all the institutions under the bill, namely the OEB, the IMO, to OPA, are testing their jurisdictions and need some certainty as to what the extent of what those jurisdictions are. And finally, there are numerous consumer and market participant interests that are effected by the Board's determination on this issue. So on these bases, we would submit that the issues should be included on the issues list for determination.

437

Moving to the second what I'll call substantive legal issue, APPrO and TransAlta submit that the Board does have a limited jurisdiction to consider certain activities that underpin the IMO's fees, expenditures, and revenue requirements that are the subject of this application. This is distinct from the position advocated by AMPCO, which would allow the Board to invoke a wholesale jurisdictional review as to the appropriateness of all IMO market design initiatives. In support of this main submission, we will be making three main points.

438

The first is that section 19 and the Board's jurisdiction section 19 must be read in the context of the entire regulatory regime governing electricity in Ontario. The second is that a contextual and purposive interpretation of section 19 supports a limited Board review of certain IMO activities underpinning the IMO's fees, expenditures and revenue requirements in order to ensure that such fees, expenditures and requirements are within the scope of the IMO's functions under the governing regulatory regime. And our third main point will be that, if the Board were to find that it had no jurisdiction to consider certain activities underpinning the fees, then affected stakeholders would be deprived of their full rights to be held in a timely fashion until the very last stages of the IMO's activities. And please forgive the crass analogy but it's much like saying we won't consider birth control until we are a little bit pregnant.

439

Let me then proceed with my first submission, and that is that the Board's section 19 jurisdiction must be determined in the context of the entire regulatory regime. The applicant has excerpted a portion of Bell ExpressVu, and I'll refer you to tab 4 of our materials. It doesn't include the full decision. At page 13, as the applicant indicated, as the IMO indicated, the appropriate approach for the Board to use in determining the interpretation of section 19, and that's at paragraph 26 of page 13, is that:
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"The Act should be read in its entire context, and in the grammatical and ordinary sense, harmoniously within the scheme of the Act, the object of the Act, and the intention of Parliament."

441

But further on, the Supreme Court gives some elaboration of how that interpretation should be made. I refer you to page 17, at this point. At paragraph 46, the Court, much like the Board today, was charged with interpreting a section that was affected by more than one act, and indicated that:

442

"Both Acts must be seen as operating together as part of a single regulatory scheme. The provisions of each statute must accordingly be read in the context of the other, and consideration must be given to each statute's role in the overall scheme."

443

So applied to today's context, it's our submission that section 19 of the Electricity Act needs to be reviewed and interpreted not just in the context of the Electricity Act but also in the context of the Ontario Energy Board Act.

444

So I'm now going proceed to provide a contextual interpretation based on both Acts. Let me start first with the Electricity Act. I've excerpted portions at tab 2 of the materials provided to you. At page 8, section 19(2) is excerpted. And this is a black‑lined version to show what has been changed pursuant to Bill 100. I also believe that the Budget Measures Act changes are included and black‑lined as well. Under section 19(2).

445

"The Board may approve proposed requirements and proposed fees or may refer the matter back to the IMO's Board with recommendations."

446

Mr. Rodger has set out that these are two distinct requirements that the Board has, and two distinct duties that it has, pursuant to section 19(2). The Board's actions under 19(2) must, however, according to Bell ExpressVu, be interpreted in the context of the purposes of the Electricity Act. And I'll now refer you to tab 2, pages 2 to 3, looking at those purposes. And specifically, on page 3 those purposes include:

447

"(F), to protect the interests of consumers with respect to prices and the adequacy, reliability right and quality of electricity service; (G), to promote economic efficiency and sustainability in the generation, transmission, and distribution and sale of electricity; and (I), to facilitate the maintenance of a financially viable electricity sector."

448

So moving now to our second main submission, which is that the contextual approach that needs to be adopted in the interpretation of section 19 supports a broader interpretation than that proposed by the IMO, and a limited jurisdiction to consider activities underpinning, certain activities underpinning the proposed expenditures, fees and revenue requirements. I've just outlined the specific purpose sections. And it's TransAlta's submission, and APPRO's submission that these purposes would support an interpretation of section 19 that would allow for a limited Board review of certain activities, particularly as they affect the economic efficiency of the IMO in deciding market rules, in market design, and the OEB in determining whether or not those are appropriately done by the IMO or the OPA, and not duplicated among these entities.

449

This is further supported by the sections of the Electricity Act outlining the objects of both the IESO and the OPA. So by way of reference at tab 2, page 4, there's a clear indication in section 5 of the new objects of the IESO. Similarly, in section 25, at page 12, there are new provisions regarding the objects of the OPA. APPrO and TransAlta submit that to allow the Board to examine the extent to which activities underpinning the fees are properly the subject of the objects of the OPA is clearly within the jurisdiction of its reviewability under section 19(2). And such activities should be reviewed to promote economic efficiency as the Board is charged to do under its mandate.

450

This jurisdictional review and this type of review is quite distinct, and in addition to, the Board's jurisdiction to review market rules. And, contrary to my friend's submission that fees associated with the activities are really the same as a review of market rules, TransAlta and APPrO submit that they're quite different and warrant different Board attention, pursuant to both the 19(2) jurisdiction and the market rules jurisdiction set out in section 32 to 35.

451

And from a practical perspective from stakeholders, this is really a matter of the right to be heard. They certainly don't want to wait to have input until the point where you've got 20 days to review the market rule.
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Now I'll refer you to the relevant provisions of the OEB Act, which are set out at tab 3. Specifically, section 20, which is located at page 7 of tab 3, indicates that:
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"Subject to any provision to the contrary in this or any other Act, the powers and procedures of the Board set out in this part apply to all matters before the Board under this or any other act."
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This supports that the Board's objectives in electricity, as set out in section 1, should be considered by the Board in the context of the interpretation of section 19 of the Electricity Act. And those objectives, set out at page 2, again, include "promoting economic efficiency and cost‑effectiveness."

455

As a result, TransAlta and APPrO submit that it is appropriate for the Board to, in a limited way, consider certain activities that would underpin the costs, expenditures and revenue requirements in the application before the Board today.

456

Moreover, if section 19 is interpreted so narrowly as to limit the Board's review to only the quantum of the fees proposed by the IMO, and not the activities underpinning such fees, the Board may be unduly restricted and inhibited from achieving its mandate, under both the objectives ‑‑ its objectives under the OEB Act and the purposes of the Electricity Act. Clearly, in our submission, this is not the intent of the legislature.

457

A broader contextual interpretation of section 19 is also supported by the Interpretation Act. And I'll refer you now to tab 5 of our materials, and section 10 of the Interpretation Act therein. Section 10 indicates that:
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"Every act shall be deemed to be remedial, whether its immediate purport is to direct the doing of anything that the legislature deems to be for the public good or to prevent or punish the doing of anything that it deems to be contrary to the public good, and shall accordingly receive such fair, large, and liberal construction and interpretation as will best ensure the attainment of the object of the Act, according to its true intent, meaning and spirit."

459

We submit that the "intent, meaning and spirit" of the combined effect of the Electricity Act and the Ontario Energy Board Act is to create a system wherein there are checks and balances upon the institutions therein. To the extent that the IMO can proceed with initiatives that are outside of its scope, and not have such initiatives reviewed until the time at which a market rule is enacted, is not, in our submission, in keeping with the true intent, the meaning, the spirit, and the checks and balances included within Bill 100, the Ontario Energy Board Act, and the Electricity Act.

460

In conclusion on this point, we submit that a contextual interpretation supports limited Board jurisdiction to look at certain activities underpinning the fees proposed by the IMO.
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Moving on to our third main point, and final point here, pertaining to the Board's interpretation of its section 19 jurisdiction and the impact that that would have on the stakeholders' right to be heard.

462

My friend, Mr. Brown, has indicated that, while the Board does have the ability and jurisdiction to review market rules, it's not appropriate for it to review the initiatives prior to that point, and has indicated, further that it's only capital expenditures that will be entered into following the Board's review of a market rule.

463

However, he's indicated that certain operational expenditures might, in fact, be incurred prior to this point. Just to point out the quantum of those operational expenditures, I refer the Board to the applicant's evidence in the business plan at page 57. And it's noteworthy that OM&A expenses, collectively ‑ although, in fairness, not dealing strictly with the Market Evolution Program ‑ constitute approximately half of the revenue requirement that you're asked to approve here. So this can, possibly, not be a trivial expense, and there should be some checks and balances associated with incurring such expenditures prior to review of a market rule.

464

To do otherwise may, in fact, impede the stakeholders' right to be heard, to make submissions and have those submissions considered in the context of decision‑making, until a point where it is, in effect, too late to effectively have their voice heard in the context of the regulatory decision‑making outlined by the Acts.

465

As a result, TransAlta and APPrO would submit that the Board should, in a disciplined fashion, incur some jurisdiction to review certain activities supporting initiatives of the IMO in the context of market design. This is quite distinct from the Board exercising wholesale jurisdiction to, in effect, overturn initiatives of the IMO.

466

And in support of that interpretation, I also point you to the limitations imposed upon the Board's jurisdiction by the Act itself. And if I can ask you to turn, specifically, to tab 2, page 8. Section 19(3) does provide for an express limitation on the Board's jurisdiction to review the requirements and fees of the IMO under section 19(2). Specifically, it indicates that:

467

"The Board shall not take into consideration the remuneration and benefits of the chair and other members of the board of directors of the IESO."

468

Nowhere in section 19, or elsewhere, does the legislature expressly prohibit the Board from actually examining certain activities underpinning the fees and charges. So, in accordance with the legal principle of expressio unius est exclusius alterius, more commonly known as the implied exclusion rule, should the legislature have intended to exclude the Board from looking at such activities, the presumption is that it would have done so pursuant to express sections similar to 19(3) of the application. No such express constraints exist.

469

So, in conclusion, therefore, on this substantive point, we would submit that the Board does have a very limited jurisdiction to ensure that the IMO activities fall within the scope and context outlined within the two Acts, and that the fees associated with such requirements are reasonable therein.

470

Those are our submissions.

471

MR. KAISER:
Ms. DeMarco, you keep saying we have limited jurisdiction and we can only look at certain activities. What are the "certain activities" we can look at?

472

MS. DeMARCO:
Those that give rise to proposed expenditures, revenue requirements, and fees.

473

MR. KAISER:
So is that everything except the chairman's salary?

474

MS. DeMARCO:
I think there is a reasonable continuum of what does give rise to proposed expenditures. And Mr. Brown outlined the concept of materiality therein. So to the extent that these are minor issues that are not material, that certainly would be one threshold to be applied by the Board.

475

MR. KAISER:
So it is not the activity, per se, but materiality of the amount. We would not trouble ourselves with anything below a million dollars or something, but you are not restricting our review, our jurisdiction, to certain activities, you are just simply saying that we have jurisdiction to look at anything that is material.

476

MS. DeMARCO:
Not strictly, Mr. Chair. Certainly, looking at the context of the Act itself, it does bear out a true jurisdiction for the IMO to proceed with market design initiatives. So to the extent where the exercise of your jurisdiction considering activities borders on, in effect, doing market design, that would fall outside of the scope of your jurisdiction. And that, as I understand it, is Mr. Brown's argument, that the Board should not have the jurisdiction to do what the IMO is charged to do under the Act.

477

MR. SOMMERVILLE:
Well, let's take the real example that's on the table, the day‑ahead market. Is that an activity that we're restricted from looking at or not?

478

MS. DeMARCO:
Certain activities underpinning the day‑ahead market may be, and to the extent that, to use as a real example, the day‑ahead market involves long‑term system planning that would otherwise be covered by the OPA under the integrated power or system plan, yes, that is validly within your jurisdiction. To the extent that you're being called upon by intervenors to scrap the day‑ahead market altogether, even though it's validly within the context of the IMO to come forward with market initiatives, no, that's not within your jurisdiction.

479

MR. KAISER:
So you seem to be saying by your previous statement we can look at only those things that would appear to be outside the jurisdiction of the IMO, and make a ruling in that regard.

480

MS. DeMARCO:
It's a combined impact of what falls within the context of fees, revenue requirements, and proposed expenditures, and the context of the roles of each of the organizations under the Act. Does that clarify your question?

481

MR. KAISER:
No. There are certain activities that we can look at. I take it from what you just said, we can't look, according to you, at anything that's within the IMO's jurisdiction. If the IMO has the clear authority to create a day‑ahead market, in the legal sense, it's clearly within their jurisdiction, and they make that judgment, you say we can't question whether they made the correct judgment.

482

MS. DeMARCO:
Let me clarify. In the context of whether or not the IMO can come forward with a day‑ahead market, that falls purely within the jurisdiction of the IMO to decide. In the context of whether the specific activities of the IMO in coming forward with a day‑ahead market fall outside the scope of those activities that are appropriately afforded to the IMO under the Act, that is within your to review.

483

MR. KAISER:
And what's an example of the latter?

484

MS. DeMARCO:
Let me take the resource adequacy market, for example. If an underpinning activity involved in the resource adequacy market would specifically require IMO fees and expenditures to be spent on developing an integrated power system plan that is within the context of the OPA to develop, that's clearly within your jurisdiction and should be ruled upon by the Board to promote economic efficiency.

485

MR. KAISER:
But that's just another example of one of these activities that you say is outside of the jurisdiction of the IMO.

486

MS. DeMARCO:
Yes, it's within the jurisdiction of the OPA.

487

MR. KAISER:
It's outside of the jurisdiction of the IMO, it's within our jurisdiction to question it.

488

MS. DeMARCO:
To question on it.

489

MR. KAISER:
And rule on it. But if it's within their jurisdiction, outside of questioning the amount they spend on it, we can't question whether they made the right decision or not to engage in that activity.

490

MS. DeMARCO:
That's fair.

491

MR. KAISER:
Thank you.

492

Who's next?

493

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. ROSS ON DISPUTED ISSUES:


494

MR. ROSS:
: I believe it's me, sir. My comments are very brief and mix legal and procedural matters.

495

I note the context in which all of us are discussing here, and that is a period of regulatory evolution, bodies testing jurisdiction, and new legislation. My clients' chief concern is that stakeholders have a full right to participate and to be heard in stakeholder proceedings on market design and market evolution. To the extent this requires Board involvement, we would submit that the legislation is broad enough to accommodate that and that section 19 is not narrow enough to preclude it.

496

To the extent, however, that there becomes a duelling process on the issue of whether, when, and how the IMO undertake the Market Evolution Program, and that duelling process is between the IMO and this Board, we would submit that that's not necessarily in the interests of stakeholders, including my client, and may not necessarily be supported by the Electricity Act itself. I would therefore submit that the issue set out at D1 be considered to be put forward but be considered in this context.

497

My client takes no position on D2, has no comment on D2, that is, the memorandum of understanding issue. But from a procedural point of view, I do take issue with one of the things that my learned colleague Mr. Brown has raised, and that is in respect of ‑‑ if this Board puts forward the issue, in particular, of D1, that it be tested in terms of legal argument only. We would submit that this might not provide a fulsome understanding of the issues to the Board, might not provide an opportunity for individuals to test evidence through the IR process and through an evidentiary process. Those are my comments. Thank you very much.

498

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, Mr. Ross.

499

Do other parties wish to comment? Mr. Keizer?

500

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. KEIZER ON DISPUTED ISSUES:


501

MR. KEIZER:
Thank you, Mr. Chair. I guess what I want to try to do is inject in the debate a bit of a practical element to this. First and foremost, Coral supports the position put forward by the IESO in the characterization of the legislation as put forward by Mr. Brown. Just on a procedural note, in terms of D1 being only for legal argument put off to a later date at the end of the proceeding, that's something that we would not like to see. We'd like to see the issue dealt with now as a preliminary matter so that we could have some degree of certainty as to where things were going to go with respect to the issue. On D2, Coral does not take any position with respect to the memorandum of understanding.

502

In terms of the practical note, I think we spent a lot of time tracing our way through various statutes in a fashion that at times requires a degree of a road map. But I think that one of the issues is that, first and foremost, what we're deciding here is that the Board will become the main authority to determine the evolution of the real‑time market, or a market, in Ontario. That's the message that effectively could be sent if the Board says: Yes, we have a right to review evolution of the markets. And effectively what there is is a change of course, the ship has shifted, in that now not the IMO or the IESO is looked to as being the focus of the development of market process or market initiatives, it now falls to the OEB. And I think to some extent from a legislative and statutory perspective, if that had been the intent of the legislature to make such a serious turn, that they would have explicitly provided for it within the Act, but they didn't.

503

I think the other element is that, in the legislation itself, as Mr. Brown put it, I think, very simply, it has two distinct, putting aside the market surveillance panel for a minute, but two distinct avenues here. There's section 19, and there's also section 33. Ultimately, I think any of the aspirations of the individuals who sought the Board's jurisdiction within the context of 19 could fulfill their aspirations within a proceeding under section 33.

504

No capital expenditures will have been spent, appropriate stakeholdering consultations will have been done by the IESO or a IMO. The Board rules would have been drafted, the appropriate crystallization of the issue itself would have been manifested, and the issue would then have been before the Board by virtue of, one, the clear issue of how it publicly is affected by virtue of subsection 6 of section 33, and there that will be opportunities for third parties or the Board itself on its own motion to raise issues. And I believe the actual legislation provides that you have 60 days to make a decision, not 20 days. And if the IMO or the IESO provides the undertaking that it's contemplating with respect to foregoing the implementation of the rule, no one's rights are impinged. Where's the harm? Staff time may have been used and stakeholders may have been able to put forward their idea within a more efficient and complex process, rather than within a public regulatory hearing.

505

The other element of practicality is the programs we're talking about here have evolved by way of stakeholder processes over two years. If the Board decides that it has jurisdiction, will it be able to invoke a similar processes? And ultimately it may have to. If it decides to proceed now to decide whether or not a program is going to be a suitable one, do you not have to consider all the suitable ramifications of what that program means?

506

The other element of practicality, I think, that needs to be considered is the fact that we have gone through a very tumultuous time within the energy markets in Ontario. We have finally seen Bill 100 come into play, and we've reached an element of stability. I can't say necessarily that it's all going to be implemented with ease, or that is there won't be hiccups or bumps along the way, but there is at least an element of understanding that we have legislation in place to create a hybrid market. And from my client's perspective, Coral ‑ which is a generator that is going to be actively participating in the market, subjected to the risks of the marketplace ‑ having an element of stability ‑‑ and for any other generator, having an element of stability and understanding as to the investment regime, or what may happen, is significant.

507

To now say that that jurisdiction has shifted from a process which people have looked upon ‑ albeit it likely has flaws with respect to the stakeholdering process of the IESO, but it is there ‑ to now say that that is not something to take into account, or that the IESO is not the party to decide evolutionary process, is a fundamental change which injects, again, an element of instability.

508

At another level, it also raises the issue of, well, What then happens with respect to the stakeholdering process of the IMO? Does it have any significance any longer? Does it mean anything? If issues are ultimately determined only here, then why bother? And why bother participating? Why not wait until the next process, until the next go‑around, and decide in a year with respect to the business plan, and not before the stakeholdering process or consultation process?

509

Ultimately, I think that where we want to get to is an element of where it's clear and understood as to what the roles are to be. And I think the legislation does that, albeit not within the time frame that some parties in this room would like. But I think with respect to overall efficiency, it gets you there.

510

Those are our submissions.

511

MR. KAISER:
Now, Mr. Keizer, you make some emphasis about the importance of the stakeholder process.

512

MR. KEIZER:
Mm‑hm.

513

MR. KAISER:
And Mr. Rodger has put before the Board an exhibit to describe the settlement terms of a previous case. And it was pretty clear that some of those matters that were settled went well beyond the quantum of the expenditure. There were discussions regarding access rights, transmission rights, assignment of rights, et cetera.

514

Now, admittedly, back in those days nobody was looking at this jurisdictional issue. That's a recent development. Does it not concern you that, if we were to accept this narrow interpretation as to the Board's jurisdiction under section 19, that that settlement process that you've enjoyed in the past might become meaningless?

515

MR. KEIZER:
I would feel that that would be a concern if it were not for the ability to, one, participate within stakeholder processes before the IESO, and as well, ultimately, to challenge the formation of whatever program came out under 33 knowing that it won't be implemented unless we go through that process, and also that no capital expenditures will be incurred until such time as it does happen.

516

So, in the absence of 33, yes, I would be seriously concerned. But we have 33. So, as a result, I think it is addressed.

517

MR. KAISER:
And if your client wanted to object to something, and its only avenue was section 33, are you worried about this 20‑day limitation?

518

MR. KEIZER:
Well, as I understand the Act, and maybe I've misread it, but when I look at the legislation, what it says is, the notice gets published with respect to the rule. The third party has 21 days to file an application challenging aspects with respect to the rule. And I think it says that the Board has 60 days then to make a decision, from the date on which the notice was published. I think it's under...

519

"The Board shall issue an order that embodies its final decision within 60 days after receiving an application for review of an amendment."

520

And that's under (6) of 33. So, in essence, you probably have a period of time of maybe a year or more of reviewing and stakeholdering this issue before the IESO. You have a rule that has gone through technical panel, all of which is not done in secret, but is clearly known and understood. You have a Board of the IESO that makes a decision with respect to the rule. And then the IESO has to then tell you whether or not that rule is going to harm anybody, and whether the objects of the legislation will be fulfilled.

521

And then you have the opportunity to say: Go away, IMO, I don't agree with this, and you can't spend a nickel because I don't like your rule. Or you can have a third party come forward. Or you can bring a full hearing on your own motion, to review it in its entirety.

522

MR. KAISER:
Now, would there be potential cases where your client would object to some capital expenditure by the IESO?

523

MR. KEIZER:
I don't think ‑‑ if you're talking about capital expenditure tied to market evolutionary programs, there may be programs that they may embark upon that Coral may not necessarily agree with, and, certainly, some of the aspects of the programs existing today have had Coral's contribution as to whether they would be appropriate or not appropriate.

524

MR. KAISER:
In any event, you're satisfied that your client would have all necessary protection using the interpretive scheme you're proposing?

525

MR. KEIZER:
Yes.

526

MR. KAISER:
Thank you.

527

MR. SOMMERVILLE:
Mr. Keizer, a substantial portion of your submission emphasized the question of practicality. As I understood Ms. DeMarco's submissions and, to some extent, Mr. Rodger's submissions as well, they related to the question of duplication of effort, where different bodies within the new array of entities within the electricity marketplace have specific undertakings, or appear to have categories of activity. And part of what's being suggested is that what's sought to be avoided is the duplication of expense at any level, and not just with respect to that capital expenditure, but with respect to the development of these programs.

528

What's your response to that?

529

MR. KEIZER:
I think if you go down the road of TransAlta, APPrO, and AMPCO, what you are is effectively duplicating in any event, because you now have two parties that have ‑‑ one of which has embraced market evolutionary as new jurisdiction, and another party that has longstandedly carried out stakeholder review and consideration.

530

And, ultimately, one of those parties ‑‑ if they're not going to be able to have it in law, then one of those parties has got to stop their review.

531

And in essence, I don't necessarily think that that brings the stability that you want. I think that you don't have duplication if you embark upon the regime that Mr. Brown has described to you. Why? Because I think that you have the opportunity to fully review, and the stakeholders have an opportunity to fully review and canvass and understand.

532

And I think the ultimate design of the legislation, in my view, was that the OEB would have a role to play ‑‑ a very significant role to play, with respect to what rules would actually come into being.

533

The other element is that your role, as I see it, is to say, We're going to look at the objects of the Act, we're going to look at the rules you create, and we're going to decide whether or not those rules function and work and are in the public interest.

534

You, the IESO, who are involved in the marketplace, who work with stakeholders every day, who are involved in the mechanisms by which it will be invoked, will consider whether we're going to do this, whether there's a need from stakeholders, and how we're going to go about it.

535

And I think it's part of their business plan ‑‑ certainly, it's manifested itself within the business plan, and it's subject to the Minister's approval. The "whether," under the issue, in my view, of "whether we do it," lies with the Minister. The "when" and "how" lies with the OEB under 33.

536

MR. SOMMERVILLE:
It may be too late at that point to recapture expenditures that have already been made, is the point.

537

MR. KEIZER:
With respect, I take your point.

538

MR. SOMMERVILLE:
And there's specific comment, and I don't want to get into a lot of detail, but there's specific comment with respect to long‑term issues rather than short‑term issues. Do you see any difficulty there, that by the time you get to whatever the review under section 33 is, that some significant duplication of expenditure may have occurred? I mean, the OPA has ‑‑ I know it's largely an unknown quantity at this point. But the significant change that has taken place is the creation of the OPA in this environment and certain roles that it is charged with. And how do we square that with not being interested or concerned about duplication of expenditure?

539

MR. KEIZER:
I think that one of the premises under the Act is that the entities are going to ‑‑ are ultimately ‑‑ there's supposed to be co‑operation among the entities within the context of the Act. And I think the sections under the Act have been read today about the OPA's jurisdiction for long‑term planning and the IESO's focus on short‑term is only one of the objects. There are other objects there that say that the IESO has an obligation to operate the markets in respect of the objects of the Act and the legislation. Which goes, then, not just to their own, but also the objects of the Electricity Act.

540

So you can't look at the OPA's ability to do something, or to the IESO's ability to do something, in isolation. Ultimately, cooperation will be required. That's part of the administration of the entity, and I don't think any Legislature can ensure that within legislation, but they certainly can recommend it.

541

But the objects, I think, are there, and I don't think that the IESO has a short‑term time horizon only. Long‑term resource adequacy market or a resource adequacy market ensures that people have the ability, comparable to a long‑term contract, to being able to create bankable options to finance generation facilities. That's the essence of the long term. It's not necessarily that you can only ‑‑ the OPA's the only one that can look at the long‑term issues and the IESO can only look at short‑term issues.

542

MR. SOMMERVILLE:
Thank you.

543

MR. KAISER:
Any other parties wish to make submissions? Mr. Lyle, do you have anything under ‑‑ oh, I'm sorry.

544

MR. LYLE:
I believe Mr. Power.

545

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. POWER ON DISPUTED ISSUES:


546

MR. POWER:
Thank you, sir.

547

On behalf of the EMIG coalition, we would support the position put forward by the IMO and the comments raised by Mr. Keizer on behalf of Coral with respect to issue D1. We don't have a position with respect to D2. And I would like to take Mr. Keizer's approach and not delve into the legislative regime. I think others have done that here. But just to underscore from these stakeholders' perspective what I would call their legitimate anxieties about what may occur here. So you can understand that.

548

And they have two fundamental concerns in operating in the marketplace in Ontario. And the one concern is the need for certainty, of which we've had very little throughout. The second is the need for a significant market evolution and success in that evolution. And that's the backdrop to this hearing, in part. I think it's fair to say, and some others have alluded to it, that this market has lurched backward and forward and from side to side, and indeed someone said we don't really have really have market now post, at least, the November 11th 2002 decision to provide a rate freeze for certain customers.

549

And there's a great anxiety by the major investors that we have market and policy and certainty upon which to continue to invest and take risks. And I think it's clear that the events of the last couple of years, which are relevant to this proceeding, it's the context, has lead to many companies, frankly, either leaving the jurisdiction, diverting resources elsewhere or frankly taking a wait and see look because they're very concerned that there will be another major lurch coming down the road every six, nine, twelve months.

550

It is critically important for all the players, the important players, of which the OEB is key, to signal to the market they are going to have some sort of a forward‑looking certain process to decide the major market evolution issues. And I would say within that context it has been accepted by the major stakeholders that the IMO is the principal architect of the evolution of the marketplace, that it plays a very important role, that the stakeholders have invested a terrific amount in it, and indeed there's been a significant public and private investment in that process.

551

I recognize that Bill 100 has brought some changes to the world that we live in, but we still do not yet know most of what Bill 100 will be or will bring. We do not know how the OPA will operate or unfold or when it will become effectively operational. There are several regulations which are contemplated under Bill 100 which have yet to come forward which the government has alluded to, and they'll come forward in due course. So we are looking a lot of guidance as to what the Bill 100 world and the OPA operational role will be.

552

Given that the parties have invested very heavily in what has led to the rate case which is before the Board, I think there should be some serious weight given to the fact that there has been an extensive consultation process well understood by the parties, participated in by the parties, and I think Mr. Keizer has very ably elaborated on the extent of the checks and balances.

553

I might also add that the IMO in any jurisdiction, IESO, conducts an extremely difficult role. The views of the stakeholders are very divergent. There are some very difficult issues on the line, and any time the IMO tries to do something it will, by its very nature, make people upset. And in fact, someone said the best the IMO could ever do is make everybody somewhat upset because they can't make a few particularly unhappy without risking the wrath of others. That's normal in that type of consultation process.

554

The concern my clients would have would be in recognizing there will always be people who will be unsatisfied in the consultation process. It should not be easy for those who are not happy with that consultation process and the outcome, for them to quickly jump over the IMO's own process and legislative regime to a different jurisdiction to re‑issue the arguments ab initio, from the start, and set back the whole market evolution process again. It's a great risk and concern that may arise in this hearing, and that's why we're here.

555

We think that the IMO's role with respect to market evolution in particular has to be greatly respected, and it should only be lightly considered ‑‑ there should only be a light ‑‑ or should I say review or difficult test for appeal of the rate case for the IMO. Their judgment has to be trusted based upon all the stakeholder discussions and processes that they have had in its ability to put forward a rate application. It should only be in the exception that there should be concerns about it.

556

In sum, we're very concerned that this rate application, depending on how this issue is handled, could be turned into, not only now but in future rate applications, a substantial review process that can duplicate, in whole or in part, the purpose of the IMO and its incredibly elaborate consultation process and the involvement of all the parties. And we're very concerned that a rate review not become a forum for developing market design in, indeed, new policy. It just is not the intent of a rate review. And we have significant concerns, given where some of the stakeholders are coming, that if we open the door to that, that's exactly the type of evidence that we will see in the hearing, that's exactly the position the Board is going to be forced into dealing with.

557

I think it's very important, given the questions around the role of the OPA, we recognize that that entity is really only in its very embryonic stages. It is going to be a long way down the road before we can expect it to be fully operational, working on policy in its broad jurisdiction which is contemplated under the legislature. So to say that the OPA is here today to deal with some of these issues, I think, is premature.

558

So I think what we are left is to the role of the OPA ‑‑ ‑‑ sorry, the role of the OEB here in the rate application is that, it's a rate review of the rate application. It's only if there is something exceptional should the Board delve into what goes behind rate application. And I think we have to give a considerable amount of deference to the work that's gone into the process here. To do otherwise is just going to invite all the stakeholders to constantly come back to the Board on a great variety of issues. That's a very serious concern, and we have a great concern about this proceeding ending up being this, in this application or any future application.

559

Mr. Chairman, those are the submissions of my client, in essence.

560

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, Mr. Power.

561

Any other parties? Mr. Lyle.

562

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. LYLE ON DISPUTED ISSUES:


563

MR. LYLE:
Thank you, Mr. Chair.

564

Mr. Chair, I want to start by clarifying section 33 of the Electricity Act because there's been quite a bit of discussion about it this morning, and there may be a fair amount of confusion after all of those discussions. If I could turn you to the material that Ms. DeMarco handed out. At tab 2, page 19 of that material, there's an excerpt from section 33. Starting at (3). (3) is the provision that Mr. Brown described as giving the Board an unfettered right to revoke a market rule amendment within 15 days of the market rule amendment being published. The Board can do that without holding a hearing.

565

Moving down to subsection (4). This is the provision that allows a person to apply to the Board for a review of a market rule amendment within 21 day of its publication.

566

And turning, then, to subsection (5), it's a little unclear on its face, but this is the provision that allows the Board to commence a review on its own motion, within 21 days of the publication of a market rule amendment.

567

And finally, subsection (6), as Mr. Keizer correctly described, is a provision that requires the Board to decide on an application commenced by a party, or a proceeding commenced on the Board's own motion, within 60 days of the commencement of that proceeding.

568

In light, then, of those provisions, and turning to Mr. Brown's argument, I have some sympathy for the view that a section 19 proceeding is not the appropriate forum in which to make a final determination of whether or not a particular change in market design is a good or a bad idea.

569

However, I'm also concerned that Mr. Brown's interpretation of section 19 could frustrate an ultimate section 33 review of a market rule amendment. And this is an issue that's been flagged by you, Mr. Chair, and Mr. Sommerville. The concern is that, if the Board's hands are tied so as to accept a large expenditure with respect to a market design matter in a section 19 proceeding, and if that money is then spent prior to a market rule amendment being published, and prior to any subsequent review being completed, the Board could be faced with a fait accompli.

570

Now, Mr. Brown has given some assurances this morning, and also indicated that he would be willing to provide an undertaking, to the effect that it is not the policy of the IESO board to get into contracts of a binding nature with respect to major expenditures around market design items, until such time as a market rule amendment has been ‑‑ I believe the word was published.

571

And he also indicated that he would provide an undertaking, I think, specifically with respect to the day‑ahead market, that big expenditures would not take place in that regard until the market rule amendment had been published.

572

I do receive some comfort from those assurances, Mr. Chair. However, I would submit that the Board should not interpret its jurisdiction differently than it otherwise would because of the assurances that Mr. Brown has provided. In the hypothetical worst‑case scenario, the Board could be faced next year with the IESO telling it that it's proposing to spend $100 million on the implementation of locational‑marginal pricing; that the Board jurisdiction is limited to reviewing whether that $100 million figure is reasonable or not, given what ‑‑ given the work that the IESO intends to do. The Board then, in the subsequent section 33 review, would be faced, potentially, with $100 million already being spent, and the Board having to accept that locational‑marginal pricing would go ahead, or, alternatively, decide to revoke the market rule amendment despite the fact that that significant expenditure had already taken place.

573

And, unlike gas distributors, or electricity distributors, the IESO is a not‑for‑profit corporation. So there is no shareholder on which the Board can visit the consequences of imprudent expenditures.

574

Therefore, any expenditures that had been made, if the Board was to revoke the market rule amendment, would be stranded costs which would have to be picked up by Ontario consumers.

575

Mr. Brown talked about the Board's authority in considering the IESO's application. He's correct in stating that, if the Board does not approve the IESO's entire application in this proceeding, it may refer aspects of the application back to the IESO, with the Board's recommendations.

576

I would suggest that the Board, at least, has the jurisdiction to not approve an expenditure related to market design, and to recommend to the IESO that the expenditure be deferred until such time as the rate of market rule amendment has been published, and any review of the Board under section 33 has been completed. Or an alternative approach would be to put a condition in any approval order that the expenditure would not exceed a certain level prior to completion of any Board review.

577

Those are my submissions, Mr. Chair.

578

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, Mr. Lyle. Mr. Lyle, you've heard from Mr. Keizer that he's concerned that, if the Board were to exercise jurisdiction beyond the limited role contemplated by Mr. Brown, that the whole settlement process will unravel. Do you accept that?

579

MR. LYLE:
I do share Mr. Keizer's concern that there is a process for market rule amendments, and that it really could muddle things if we are to mix up the section 19 process with the section 33 process. If the concern that I outlined with respect to the possibility that significant expenditures could have already been made can be appropriately addressed, then I would not have a concern with a more limited role for the Board, as proposed by Mr. Keizer and Mr. Brown, under section 19.

580

MR. KAISER:
The other question is, assume we can solve the problem of the horse getting out of the barn before the OEB has a chance to review it, in other words, by undertakings or whatever, section 33 really cracks in before any serious dollars are spent. Assume we can do that. And we really shift the review of the Board to that level, and at that time. What's left for us to do under section 19, anyway?

581

MR. LYLE:
Well, certainly, Mr. Chair, you've seen the list of issues which are not disputed, so there's a broad range of activities before the Board whether or not the disputed issues are put on the Issues List.

582

MR. KAISER:
But some of those go beyond quantum, don't they?

583

MR. LYLE:
Well, some do, Mr. Chair, but I believe ‑ and Mr. Brown can speak to this ‑ but I believe his position would be that it's appropriate for the Board to go beyond quantum when we're not addressing issues related to market design that will ultimately be enshrined in market rules and, therefore, subject to a potential section 33 review.

584

MR. KAISER:
All right. Let's suppose that's a limited objection. So things like bench‑marking and performance reviews and all of that, there's no jurisdictional challenge there?

585

MR. LYLE:
No, there's not, Mr. Chair.

586

MR. KAISER:
All right. Thank you.

587

Mr. Brown, do you want to reply now or wait until after lunch?

588

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
I think my friend, Mr. Warren, has some submissions on the second issue, D2.

589

MR. KAISER:
All right. Do you want to deal with those now or later?

590

MR. WARREN:
Sooner is always better, sir.

591

MR. KAISER:
All right.

592

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. WARREN ON DISPUTED ISSUES:


593

MR. WARREN:
Mr. Chair, these are submissions on contested issue D2.

594

First of all, by way of background, Mr. Chairman, in its notice of application ‑ with apologies, I'm going to refer to the applicant by its old term, IMO ‑ requested authorization to retain 2004 accumulative surplus in the then‑amount of $14.1 million in a deferral account for contingencies and rate stabilization. And in that context, if the Board would turn up, in Mr. Brown's very useful materials, tab 8, page 2 of 5, the submission for review. You'll see in the fourth bullet item in numbered paragraph 4 that:

595

"Pursuant to section 19(2) of the Act, the IMO is seeking the following approves with the OEB: Authorization to obtain the forecast 2004 accumulative surplus of $14.1 million in the deferral account for contingencies and rate stabilization purposes in the planning period."

596

Now, in our submission, that the IMO should ask the Board for approval for the use of the surplus is reflective of two things. First, it is consistent with the approach which the IMO has taken in preceding years. And in that context, if the Board were to turn up in Mr. Brown's material tab 6. In the Board's decision in respect to the fees for 2004, that is, in the RP‑2003‑0220, on the second page, second full paragraph, second bullet item, the Board recites the fact that:

597

"The IMO sought the following approvals for 2004 from the Board: Use of $1.5 million forecast 2003 accumulative deferral account surplus to meet 2004 revenue requirement."

598

So the application for approval in the context of a section 19 application, the approval for the treatment of the surplus is what the IMO has done in the past, and what it has done this year. And the second point I'd like to make, Mr. Chairman, is that it is, in my respectful submission, a recognition by the IMO that the OEB has the jurisdiction over surplus, over the surplus as part of its section 19 authority.

599

What the IMO now says is that the disposition of the surplus is no longer an issue in this case. Because of the memorandum of understanding between the IMO and the Minister, under which the surplus is to be used for the start‑up costs of the OPA. In our respectful submission, the question for resolution ‑‑ the question that should be put on the issues list and the question for resolution at the hearing, is whether the surplus remains part of the IMO resources for purposes of the determination of its fees for 2005. Can the IMO simply remove the sum from the OEB's jurisdiction by entering into the MOU? To put the matter another way, what are the IMO's costs for purposes of the determination of its fees?

600

This, in turn, begs the question, in our submission, of whether the IMO has the authority to enter into the MOU. This question must be resolved, in our respectful submission, in order to determine what is before the Board for the resolution ‑‑ for resolution in this case.

601

I want to pause at this point to point out, Mr. Chairman, that we do not, in raising this jurisdictional question, take issue with the appropriateness of the ministerial decision to decide how the OPA should be funded. This isn't an issue of jurisdiction, this is an issue, if you wish, of following the rules, following the legislation. Let me turn, then, against that background, to our analysis.

602

The powers that the IMO has in relation to fees arise in respect of the Electricity Act. Mr. Brown, in his submissions to you this morning, pointed out that, pursuant to subsection 5.3 of the Act, the IMO has the freedom to act as a person. And the implication of that is that they have the freedom to enter into a contract. However, that is subject to a very significant constraint, and that is that they cannot enter into a contract which has an effect on their fees. All of those actions in respect of fees are constrained by the fact that they must seek approval of this regulator before doing so. The Act does not, in our respectful submission, give the IMO either the authority, either directly or by necessary implication, to enter into an agreement that will affect its fees.

603

Subsection 19.3 of the Act, the Electricity Act, provides that:

604

"The IMO will not establish, eliminate or change any fees without the approval of the Board."

605

The effect of that section, the effect of the action in entering into this contract is that by taking the surplus out of the consideration of the 2005 fees, it has the effect, in our respectful submission, of, depending on your point of view, either eliminating or reducing, or certainly affecting fees for 2005. And that, pursuant to subsection 19.3, the IMO cannot do. But the IMO has made the point before that the IMO itself has acknowledged that this framework of analysis is correct, appears from its earlier applications to the Board in all of which it sought approval for proposed disposition of its surplus.

606

Now, if the Board would turn up tab 10 of my friend's compendium of materials, you'll see that attached to Mr. Brown's letter to the Board of January 4, 2005, that there's a third page. There is a memorandum of understanding between the Minister of Energy, and you'll see bracketed beneath the recital of the Minister of Energy's name the following words: "Acting in contemplation of the formation of the Ontario Power Authority (OPA)."

607

In our respectful submission, the Minister does not there have the authority to do that. If the Board would turn up, and this appears in my friend's very helpful summary of his submissions, subsection 25(19) of the Act. And that is set out, Mr. Chairman and Mr. Sommerville, at page 9 of the summary of submissions of my friend. Subsection 25(19)(1) of the Act says, and I quote:

608

"On such conditions as the Minister determines and at any time before the repeal of this section, the Minister may direct a person to enter into contracts, agreements, undertakings, or arrangements on behalf of the OPA in respect of its establishment or initial operation, and the OPA shall be bound by them in the same manner as if it had entered into the contracts, agreements, undertakings, or arrangements after its establishment."

609

It does not say that the Minister may enter into contracts acting in the stead of the OPA. The Minister may direct somebody else to do that. So I say, with respect, that the Minister doesn't have the power to enter into the MOU.

610

More significantly, in our respectful submission, if you turn to page 10 of my friend's material. Subsection 161.4 of the Electricity Act permits Lieutenant Governer in Council to make regulations requiring the IESO and the OPA to enter into contracts relating to the provision of services and such other matters as it considers advisable. If anything the MOU fits that description and should, therefore, have been authorized by a regulation. It was not, and in our respectful submission, and therefore has no authority.

611

Let me turn briefly to Mr. Brown's submissions as they appear on page 11 of his summary of argument. They are summarized in paragraph 25 of the summary, and they are three arguments, as follows: The first is that it is not open to this Board to second‑guess government policy. In our submission, by inquiring into the jurisdiction, this is not second‑guessing government policy. As I said earlier, it may be entirely appropriate for the government to provide for funding in whatever way it thinks is appropriate for start‑up costs of the OPA. The issue is whether or not they have done so in the right way, whether or not they have followed the prescription in the legislation. So it's not a question of second‑guessing government policy.

612

And I say, with great respect to Mr. Brown, we should not be put in the position of, in effect, an in terrorem argument, that we don't dare question an issue of jurisdiction because it may somehow be contrary government policy. That is not the issue before the Board, in my respectful submission.

613

The second argument that my friend raises is that the OEB may, in the exercise of its jurisdiction ‑‑ is not bound ‑‑ sorry. It's a negative argument. It says that the absence of the provisions which appear in relation to the rate‑setting powers of the Board in the electricity and the gas sector, it says that the Board cannot be bound by any contract. Mr. Brown argues in the negative that the absence of that provision means, in effect, that the Board can be bound by the contract. In our respectful submission, that argument is wrong, because section 19 gives the Board a complete comprehensive power over the IMO's fee‑setting processes. So that, as a result of that comprehensive jurisdiction over the IMO's fees, by definition then, any contract which purports to derogate from that jurisdiction is not binding.

614

The final submission that my friend makes is that the MOU is consistent with the rate stabilization process approved by the Board, the IESO's variance account. That may well be the case. The fact that the MOU is consistent with the broad policy direction of the government doesn't mean that there is sufficient authority for them to enter into it or that it should constrain the Board's exercise of jurisdiction in this case.

615

The relief we're asking for, Mr. Chairman, is simply that the issue be placed on the issues list, not that it be resolved now, but that it be left open for discussion to determine after all not whether or not what lies behind the MOU is an appropriate policy directive, but whether or not the question of the surplus remains within the assets, if you wish, of the IMO for consideration and for determination of its fees.

616

Finally, Mr. Chairman, our ultimate position is that we agree with Mr. Brown that this is an issue which can be dealt with by legal argument and finally by submissions. It does not require evidence in order to determine it.

617

I'm conscious, Mr. Chairman, and my friends behind me have made arguments about the practicalities and the importance of getting on with the argument. I'm conscious of the fact that I'm making what might be described as a kind of ‑‑ my old second grade teacher, Ms. Blue pencil and her fussy‑pants argument. This is a fussy‑pants argument, but there is a slippery slope. The legislation provides that there's a way to do these things, and we cannot determine as lawyers, as officers of the court, we can't determine whether or not this is the policy of the government unless they follow the rules. They set up a system that they have to follow in order to do things, and it's our obligation, I say with respect, to follow that whatever we may think of the policy.

618

I ask, therefore, Mr. Chairman, that this issue simply be added to the issues list for the purpose of allowing parties to make submissions on it.

619

Those are my submissions. Thank you.

620

MR. KAISER:
Just to understand your position, if, to use your words, Mr. Brown followed the rules, and let's say those rules required him to get the Lieutenant Governor in Council to enact a regulation, if he did that, you would have no objection?

621

MR. WARREN:
I'd have no objection, sir. Those are the rules.

622

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Brown?

623

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
I'm in your hands. My preference would be to have a few minutes to reorganize things and come back after lunch, but I could continue if you want to do so now.

624

MS. DeMARCO:
Mr. Chairman, I wonder if I could just interject for a moment. I note that a number of parties expressed their views on the second contested issue. TransAlta and APPrO have not. Could the record simply reflect that TransAlta and APPrO take no position on the inclusion of the MOU‑related issue.

625

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, Ms. DeMarco. Anyone else want to record their position with respect to issue 2?

626

Mr. Brown, would an hour be sufficient?

627

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Oh, yes, that's more than enough. Thank you.

628

MR. KAISER:
Come back in an hour.

629

‑‑‑ Luncheon taken at 1:13 p.m.

630

‑‑‑ On resuming at 2:31 p.m.

631

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Brown.

632

REPLY SUBMISSIONS BY MR. DAVID M. BROWN ON DISPUTED ISSUES:


633

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Thank you very much, Mr. Chair. I'll start my submissions by way of reply on the first contested issue, D1. My first submission is that the differences in position advanced by AMPCO and TransAlta, in my submission, at the end of the day, really don't result in any practical distinction for purposes of trying to narrow the scope of review. They really boil down the same issue, which is, at what stage does the Ontario Energy Board review the merits of market design. Ms. DeMarco tried, I think somewhat valiantly, to say that there would be limited questions and limited circumstance, by my only perception of the difference between TransAlta and AMPCO is that AMPCO might ask lots of questions about the merit of market design and TransAlta would ask less. I don't think it's a workable difference and it really boils down the same point.

634

With respect to the logic of the argument that was advanced by both AMPCO and TransAlta, in my submission, it could result in the following circumstance. Let's say that next year the IMO files its fees case and as part of that it indicates that it proposes to investigate a new market design and plans to incur some operational expenses in that regard. If the intervenor's position is accepted, that is, AMPCO and TransAlta's position is accepted, then before any stakeholdering is done, before the technical panel has considered the matter in detail, and before the IMO board of directors has considered this proposed market design, it would be open to the OEB under section 19(2) review to essentially veto it and to stop it before it starts. And in my respectful submission, that logic, or that logic to their position, eviscerates the overall scheme of the Act with respect to making rules for the establishment and the operation of the IMO‑administered markets.

635

Also, it would, in my view, leave the OEB in a position where, in respect of reviewing any market design proposal, it would be operating in a vacuum. At least under sections 33 to 35 the OEB when reviewing a market rule would have before it a very full record with respect to the rationale for the rule and the substance of the market design. In a fees case you might have none of that, and that would lead to a very difficult decision for the Board to make any decision on the merits. But I think that's why it points to a scope of review that would be outside of the scheme of the Act.

636

But that then leads to, I think, concerns that were voiced by both Panel members, which I would term to be the 11th hour concerns or the "the horse is already out of the barn before we get to review it." How do you deal with that? And my response is several‑fold. Firstly, with respect to any market design that's going to result in a market rule, there are really two phases. They are what I would call the development of the design, what should we have, how should it be structured, kind of thing. And then also the implementation of the design. Now that we know what we want to do, let's go and get the software in place to do it. At the end of the day, someone has to develop market design. And in my respectful submission, the Electricity Act tasks the IMO with that.

637

Now, the question then is, Well, is it possible that the costs associated with the development of the market design might be so significant that, you know, really there's nothing left to shut down, if that's what the Board tries to do. And I've tried to indicate to you through the course of my submissions‑in‑chief that in terms of, for example, the implementation of the day‑ahead market, where the IMO is asking for approval of $37 million for 2005, that's a very material expense. But in terms of OM&A costs with respect to the design of that kind of thing, you would be looking at something of a lesser magnitude, a few hundred thousand or a few million dollars. Usually the expense is in the implementation of the market design, not in the development of it.

638

And on that particular point, over the course of the lunch hour, I went back to reconfirm my instructions with respect to the undertakings. And I can confirm that with respect to market design issues that the IMO confirms that it will undertake not to make any major capital expenditure commitments on Market Evolution Projects that would be implemented by ‑‑ or driven by rule amendments until the implementing market rules have been published, which I think clarifies the undertaking I gave this morning.

639

I've clarified it a bit to specify market evolution projects ‑‑ or capital expenditure commitments on Market Evolution Projects driven by rule amendments to distinguish the fact that there are capital expenditures that are not Market Evolution Program‑driven. And indeed, I think in our current rate case, it is in the magnitude of 24 or 25‑odd million dollars, somewhere around there. So the IMO is going to run into circumstances where every year it may have to reaccomplish some of its computers and that sort of stuff, but those are sorts of things that this Board can look at during the course of a section 19(2) hearing.

640

MR. KAISER:
You're not claiming that those are exempt from the Board's jurisdiction, it's just the market evaluation program?

641

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Correct, and I think my friend Mr. Lyle in the latter part of his submissions this morning properly articulated the difference that I'm trying to make. I'm trying to distinguish capital expenditures relating to Market Evolution Program that are market rule‑driven from other capital specification, and my submissions on the ‑‑

642

MR. KAISER:
But before you proceed, we understand you're limiting it to the Market Evaluation Program.

643

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
The Market Evolution Program.

644

MR. KAISER:
Evolution program. Now, are there some of those expenditures that are subject to rule‑making and some that are not, or are they all subject to market rules?

645

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
I would never ‑‑

646

MR. KAISER:
You say driven by, but what percentage of the beast is this?

647

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
The overall majority, the lion's share.

648

MR. KAISER:
But most of them would be subject ‑‑ I thought that's what you told us this morning.

649

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Most of them would be subject. There may be the odd one here or there that might not be, but certainly the major projects DAM, for example.

650

MR. KAISER:
But that's a big one.

651

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Or RAM, that would be, I guess, the replacement for the capacity reserve ‑‑

652

MR. KAISER:
What's the total expenditure on RAM? Is that under $1 million?

653

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Under a million dollars proposed for this year, and it would be expense probably more than capital expenditure.

654

MR. KAISER:
This morning we talked about materiality. Do you remember that? If we wanted to define materiality, could we call it 250,000? Is that a reasonable number?

655

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
I don't know whether we've ever done that before. I really want to speak to the client about that. I mean, we could work toward some materiality number, I just can't comment on that off the top of my head. But there is that distinction between MEP, the Market Evolution Program, market rule‑related ones and other capital expenditures. And my submissions on terms of a restrictive scope of the review are limited to the Market Evolution, market‑rule related ones.

656

Mr. Lyle, in his submissions, essentially asked the IMO to consider extending that undertaking one step further so that there would be no capital expenditure commitment until the end of the OEB review, and I've talked with the client about that. The IMO's submission is that there are already mechanisms built into the market rules that could permit, under the appropriate circumstances, a stay of the implementation of any market rule. Perhaps I could take you to the specific portions.

657

MR. KAISER:
No, we're familiar with the section.

658

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Oh, okay. So the position of the IMO is that the OEB does have the power to stay the implementation of market rules, and that's the appropriate mechanism by which to consider whether in any particular case the IMO should not proceed with any specific expenditures after the publication of the market rule. So we would ask the Board to rely on the existing statutory mechanism, and we wouldn't extend the undertaking any further.

659

One final point, if I might, with respect to the Sections 32 to 35 scheme. I think, Mr. Chair, it was you who asked me a question this morning as to whether the IMO would make the notices of assessment that it had to give to the OEB under section 32(6) part of the public record. And my instructions are to say that, yes, the IMO does expect that as part of its filing of proposed market rules to the OEB, that assessment would be included in that, and it has every expectation that that filing would be public. I understand that there haven't been detailed discussions to date between the IMO and the OEB on that, but it would be the OEB's expectation that those would all become a matter of public record. So that's the expectation of the IMO.

660

MR. KAISER:
And just to be clear, Mr. Brown, 32(6) speaks of the assessment before the rule is made and you just finished saying you would file it with your rule.

661

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
I'm advised that the ‑‑ it's really a matter of process. That what would be contemplated ‑‑ although I must confess, I'd prefer to go back and get firm direction on this because it seems to be new ground ‑ that what would probably be contemplated is that the IMO board would consider a proposed rule amendment, make a decision on it, but then, before publishing it, send the package to the OEB. And at that point the assessment would be on that.

662

As I say, I don't think there have been detailed discussions between the OEB and the IMO on that, and perhaps that has to be refined. But that would be the, sort of, current understanding about how that would operate. So the notice would be sent to the OEB before the market rule was published. It would be the bottom line.

663

MR. KAISER:
And while you're dealing with the rules, you referred us a moment ago to the ability of the Board to make its own motion to stay an amendment, et cetera, and including, of course, the Board's power to revoke, which is now in section 33(3).

664

section 33 refers to amendment to rules, and then it has all these abilities of the Board to revoke. Do you take the position that these powers that the Board has under 33 apply to new rules, as well, that might be published under 32?

665

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Yes. As I understand the process, the language in the Act is such that the market rules were made as of market‑opening, and everything that happens after that is an amendment to the market rules.

666

MR. KAISER:
I thought so. I just wanted to get your position.

667

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Which is why ‑‑ and I think that's the only way section 35 makes any sense, which allows an opportunity to review existing market rules.

668

So those are my general comments with respect to issue D.1.

669

I have a few specific points in reply that I'll just go through quickly, because they were raised by certain of the intervenors.

670

First, AMPCO, in its submission, said quite candidly that what it wanted to do was make the argument in the proceeding that the resource adequacy market was now not a legitimate IMO activity, and that is something that could be done in section 19(2). I have four brief points in reply.

671

Firstly, in terms of the IMO's objectives, section 5(1)(g) still gives the IMO the power to operate the IMO‑administered markets, and section 32 remains unchanged. The IMO makes the market rules.

672

Secondly, with respect to the legitimacy of the RAM in the new post‑Bill 100 context, I took you to the Minister's letter of November 3rd, or 4th, 2004, which approved the business plan and said it was consistent with the objectives of the government. That was done between second and third reading of Bill 100, and the business plan contains a section on RAM so that the Minister is indicating that what he sees in the business plan is consistent with the objectives of the IMO in this new Bill 100 world.

673

Thirdly ‑ and I don't have it before me, last August, I think it was ‑ the Ministry of Energy published some draft regulations that it proposed implementing after Bill 100 was put in place. One of those deals was the integrated resource planning of the OPA. And in that draft regulation it effectively says the OPA is charged with considering integrated planning solutions to problems, if market solutions fail. And certainly, although that regulation has not been enacted yet, I think that's an indication that the government is looking, initially, for market‑based solutions. And then, as a default, if those don't work, you get into planning. And RAM would be a market‑based solution.

674

My fourth and final point is that, in terms of ascertaining whether or not any activity, as Ms. DeMarco calls it, of the IMO is within the scope of its power, or not, sections 33 and 34 specifically task the OEB, as part of that review, of determining whether or not the market rule "is consistent with the purposes of the Act," I think, is the phrase. So that's when that exercise is done.

675

My second specific point of reply is ‑‑ I think it was my friend, Mr. Rodger, suggested that if you look at past decisions you can see that the Board, through the stakeholdering process, the settlement conference process, looked at things that certainly went beyond just the quantum.

676

Now, my submissions on that, as I've clarified, are confined to the Market Evolution Program capital expenditures. But on that one, the Market Evolution Program capital expenditures, if I could ask you to go to tab 6, which is the Board's decision from last year, and, in particular, to the settlement agreement, which is at page 4 of the document titled "Settlement Agreement," there is a heading there: "2004 Capital Expenditures." And you'll see it's broken down to the base amount of the day‑ahead market.

677

I didn't go through it in detail, but I think it's worth going through it in reply, because the intervenors last year raised the issue about the absence of detail associated with the proposed capital expenditure. The IMO undertook in settlement discussions to provide additional detail on the proposed capital expenditures. And those components were appended to the settlement agreement. So that's how much one is spending.

678

And then the next paragraph says:

679

"The business case for the elements of the day‑ahead market will be subject to the IMO's rigorous capital review and approval process for release of funds."

680

And that was attached as a description, which indicates that the business case is for the IMO to come up with, but certainly the OEB is entitled to review the financial prudence with which those ‑‑ or the method by which the spending is reasonable.

681

And then these were some additional commitments. But none of those went to the wisdom of, you know, should we have a day‑ahead market? That wasn't the gist of this. It was, Given that there is going to be a day‑ahead market, give us details on the amounts that you're going spend, and convince us that you've got some financial planning process in place to make sure you're going to stay on budget. That was the thrust of last year.

682

The third specific point that I wish to make in reply is that there was a common thread to some of the submissions by intervenors to the effect that, Well, stakeholders have a right to be heard in this process. And no one is disputing that stakeholders have a right to be heard. Mr. Power, in his submissions, I think, pointed out that the IMO has a very detailed and a very robust stakeholdering process. And he warned about really going outside of that process.

683

But, to the extent that some of the stakeholders think that the IMO stakeholdering process needs a bit of vetting, reviewing or recommendations, I do point out that issue A4 on the agreed Issues List is exactly that. So, to the extent that some may say, Well, sure, IMO, you've got a stakeholder process, but we don't think it's working, they can make that under A4.

684

But to go through, in this forum, a parallel stakeholding process going into the design of market, in my respectful submission, falls outside 19(2), and both Mr. Keizer and Mr. Power, I think, in very practical and powerful ways, pointed out the dangers inherent in that, quite apart from it being outside of the language of the statute.

685

My fourth specific response is on references that were made to the Ontario Power Authority. Some of the arguments slipped into concerns about, Well, there might be duplication of costs and there should be some mechanism to review that. I wish to point out that on the agreed Issues List, issues A1.1.2 and A2.2 both afford ample scope for intervenors to get into the relationship between the IMO and the OEB, in terms of making sure costs are not duplicated. And then, of course, once the OPA gets up and running, and, I guess, in respect of its 2006 year business plan and fees, this Board will be charged with jurisdiction to review both the OPA's fees and expenditures and fees, and the IMO. And so, once the system gets up and running, you will have in place the ability to take a look at both of them, and presumably through that make sure that both entities are, you know, not reinventing the wheel and making the most efficient use of funds.

686

So those are my submissions in reply on issue D.1, and I've arrived at the same point as I did before, in terms of the appropriate scope of review, which I submit is to look solely at the reasonableness of the costs associated with market expenditure ‑‑ Market Evolution Program capital expenditures, but not to the wisdom, prudence or merits of the actual market design.

687

With respect to the second issue, which my friend Mr. Warren put forward, of the MOU, I've made all my submissions in‑chief. I have nothing to add in reply to that.

688

If I might conclude, finally, with a technical or procedural matter. I did indicate, at the beginning, that one of the steps that the IMO thought might be useful would be to hold a technical conference prior to the written interrogatories, which are due a week Wednesday, on the 19th. Board Staff have been very helpful in trying to figure out whether a room would be available. Apparently a room is available this Friday for a technical conference. And what the IMO would propose is that, while we committed last week to the Board to file our amended application and updated evidence to reflect the amendment by this Friday, that we advance that so that we serve and file that on Thursday, then have a technical conference on Friday. I would propose that the technical conference be transcribed so that the evidence that we get from the technical conference would be available for the Panel. And then that would also give parties sufficient number of days before having to finalize their IRs to consider the appropriate scope of them.

689

Now, I tried to canvas the room before the panel came in, and I think it fair to say I'm not quite too sure what the lay of the land is throughout the entire room on that, so there may be other intervenors who wish to speak to the timing of it. Those are my submissions.

690

PROCEDURAL MATTERS:


691

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, sir. Mr. Vegh, do you have any views on the point raised with respect to the technical conference and transcribing the evidence, as it were?

692

MR. VEGH:
Well, the value, of course, is that it may be a much more effective way of dealing with some technical issues than going through the interrogatory process. I think everyone in the room feels that way. And the concern is only, really, with the timing of it, because today is already Monday, and Friday's only a few days away. People have to check with their consultants to see their availability. But as a practical matter, if we were to hold the technical conference to be ‑‑ if the technical conference is to be transcribed, then it should be held in this room, because this room is wired for the reporter. And this room is not available next week. That, plus the fact that the interrogatories are due next Wednesday, suggests that we should move ahead on this, and really have it done no later than Friday.

693

MR. KAISER:
But aside from the scheduling issues, which I'm sure you can work out in one way or another, I wasn't sure whether the fact that this would be transcribed represented a departure from usual practice or not.

694

MR. VEGH:
Technical conferences have been transcribed in the past. They're treated almost as a form of discovery. That way you could just read something into the record or refer to it as part of the record if an answer was given on the technical point.

695

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
We may not have transcribed these in the past, I can't recall, Mr. Chair, but I think it would be a very practical way to do it, and we'd bring the controller of the IMO and some of the people that can answer some of the detailed question that intervenors might have.

696

MR. KAISER:
Well, let's leave it on this basis, that we'll all use our best efforts to get this technical conference done. I'm sure we can find a room somewhere in the City of Toronto, and probably a court reporter, to accommodate everybody's schedules.

697

Now, was there another procedural matter you had at the outset. What was that?

698

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
It related to the settlement conference. I think everyone in this room is seeking guidance from the Board as to whether or not all of the issues that end up on the agreed‑upon issues list are ones that can be subject to discussion in a settlement conference or whether there are certain ‑‑

699

MR. KAISER:
Or whether some of them be reserved for hearing?

700

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
That's correct.

701

MS. DeMARCO:
Mr. Chair, if I might, through you just canvass the possibility pertaining to timing of the technical conference of having the revised application available sooner than Thursday, should the technical conference proceed on Friday morning.

702

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
We will certainly do it on our best efforts.

703

MR. KAISER:
I take it there is going to be nothing in the amendment, Mr. Brown, other than what's in your letter of the 4th?

704

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
That's correct. It's really more rejigging ‑‑ revising the financial data to reflect the whole ‑‑

705

MR. KAISER:
Ms. DeMarco, you have a copy of Mr. Brown's letter, I assume.

706

MS. DeMARCO:
I do, Mr. Chair, but I understand that that results in financial changes throughout the entire application.

707

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
We will use our best efforts to get it in before Thursday but the ‑‑

708

MR. KAISER:
Where are you going to find another $15 million.

709

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
All depends who phones, I guess.

710

MR. KAISER:
We're going to take, Mr. Vegh, if it's acceptable to you and counsel, we'll take half an hour and come back with our decision.

711

MR. VEGH:
Thank you.

712

‑‑‑ Recess taken at 2:55 p.m.

713

‑‑‑ On resuming at 4:10 p.m.

714

RULING ON DISPUTED ISSUES:


715

MR. KAISER:
Please be seated.

716

Before we deal with the ruling with respect to today's motions, We just want to mention at the outset that a Procedural Order will follow outlining the issues, as well as dealing with the technical conference. We don't propose to deal with the technical conference in these reasons.

717

This proceeding follows an Application filed by the Independent Electricity Market Operator with this Board on November 5th as part of a review of its proposed expenditures and revenue requirements and fees that it proposes to charge for the year 2005.

718

The Board held an Issues Conference on January 5th. Various matters were agreed to and some matters were disagreed to. Exhibit 1 in this proceeding describes the issues that have been agreed to by the parties.

719

Is that correct, Mr. Vegh?

720

MR. VEGH:
Yes.

721

MR. KAISER:
And all of the parties have indicated they have no dispute with respect to those matters.

722

The matters we wish to deal with today relate to the two disputed issues.

723

The first is the extent to which the Board, under section 19 of the Electricity Act, can review various expenses with respect to the Market Evolution Program.

724

The Applicant suggests that the Board's review is limited to, in effect, the quantum of those expenditures. Various intervenors, led by AMPCO, suggest the Board's review goes further and goes to the rationale and the justification, if you will, for the entire program or specific components.

725

The Applicant has two main arguments. One is that the Minister has approved the business plan pursuant to section 19(1), which requires such approval before the Applicant files its review with the Board. That has been done, and that has been filed in the material, as tab 4 of Mr. Brown's submissions, which I believe is Exhibit 2.

726

Is that Exhibit 2?

727

MR. VEGH:
Yes, sir.

728

MR. KAISER:
The other argument advanced by the Applicant is that the real review of these expenditures, for anything more than the quantum, should take place pursuant to sections 32 and 33 of the Act. And, indeed, there is an elaborate and established review process under those sections.

729

Part of that argument which is advanced by a number of parties, including the Applicant and Mr. Keizer for Coral Energy, is that a review under section 19 would be, in some sense, preliminary, or premature, because, in fact, these expenditures would not have been approved by the board of directors of the IESO at this point, and that it might stifle the settlement, or stakeholdering process, as it's sometimes referred to.

730

On the narrow legal question, the Board is not persuaded that its review is as limited, as described by Mr. Brown and the Applicant. The Board has had reference to the objectives which are found in sections 1 and 2 of the OEB Act. The objectives of this Board in section I are "to protect the interests of consumers with respect to prices and the adequacy, reliability, and quality of electricity service", and, in section II, the objective is "to promote economic efficiency and cost‑effectiveness in the generation, transmission, distribution, sale and demand management of electricity, and to facilitate the maintenance of a financially viable electricity industry."

731

In addition, the Board has had reference to section 10 of the Statutory Interpretations Act which says, and I quote:

732

"Every Act shall be deemed to be remedial whether its immediate purport is to direct the doing of anything that the legislature deems to be in the public good, or to prevent or punish the doing of anything that is deemed to be contrary to the public good, and shall accordingly receive such fair, large and liberal construction and interpretation as would best ensure the attainment of the objects of the Act, according to its true intent, meaning and spirit."

733

So, in summary, we don't accept the argument that, simply because the Minister has approved the business plan, our review under section 19 would be limited. That approval is required for any application by the Applicant under section 19, and there is nothing in the language, according to our view, that would limit our review to simply the quantums.

734

However, having said that, we had some sympathy with the arguments put forward by the Applicant, and others, as to the confusion that might be created by a duplicate process, because, indeed, a review is also contemplated under sections 32 and 33.

735

So while we do not accept the argument that we do not have jurisdiction, we believe these matters would be best deferred to the review process described in the statute under sections 32 and 33, subject to a proper undertaking that no expenditures would be incurred in this area without a market rule having been established to accommodate and encapsulate those expenditures, and the review process having been completed.

736

In this regard, we would extend the undertaking from that advanced by Mr. Brown to refer to all expenditures, not just capital expenditures, all expenditures greater than $250,000. And, as stated, we would extend the undertaking to a requirement that that review process had been completed, bearing in mind that a fairly tight time frame is suggested by the statute, either 21 or 22 days. So we don't take the view that adding to the undertaking that the review process be completed will impose any great delay.

737

Now, when we come to that conclusion, we take note of the fact that section 32(6) has been added to the Act. That is the requirement that the IESO will not make a rule under this section unless it first gives the Board an assessment of the impact of the rule on the interests of consumers with respect to prices, and the reliability and quality of electricity service. Mr. Brown has indicated that this would be made available to the Board with the contemplated rule, and that it could be made available at that time to interested parties. So that suggests a somewhat more strengthened review process under section 32.

738

We are also comfortable that the authority given to this Board under section 33(9) is broad. The Board is empowered if, on completion of its review, it finds that a rule or an amendment is inconsistent with the purpose of the Act, or unjustly discriminates against or in favour of a market class, to make an order revoking that rule or amendment. The purposes outlined in section 1 of the Electricity Act are very broad.

739

So we are convinced that deferring this review process to the end of the line, when the expenditures have actually been approved by the board of directors of the IESO, will grant any of the interested parties their opportunity to be heard with respect to any claim that they are impacted adversely.

740

But it is, as I say, conditional upon the undertaking as the Panel has expressed it. The Board is of the view that no MEP expenditures should take place above the threshold mentioned without the implementation of a rule, and the review process contemplated by the statute.

741

That brings us to the second issue. This was a somewhat narrower issue. This related to the memorandum of understanding that was executed between the Minister of Energy and the IESO with respect to the surplus of some $15 million. And those monies, as we understand it, are still in an IESO bank account but they have been made available, pursuant to that memorandum of understanding, for the use of the OPA, which was recently established by legislation.

742

The ball on this motion was carried by Mr. Warren of the Consumers Council. In the end it was his position that he wasn't opposed to it, provided it was done properly. In paragraph 22 of Mr. Brown's submission, which was filed as Exhibit 2, Mr. Brown quite properly refers to the fact that there is authority in section 161.6 of the Electricity Act for the Lieutenant Governor in Council to enact regulations which would empower this kind of transfer. Mr. Brown has indicated on the record that such regulation, to his knowledge, has not been enacted so far.

743

The Board shares the concern expressed by Mr. Warren and suggests that the Applicant give serious consideration to determine whether such a regulation is forthcoming. That memorandum of understanding has been filed in Mr. Brown's material at, I believe, tab 10.

744

That takes us then to the Notice of Application. The issue there, as expressed by Mr. Brown, was whether the Board was exerting some form of carve‑out from the settlement process. That is to say, there were three issues that the boards stated that they wanted to have a hearing on, regardless of the settlement process. The Board was asked whether this is still the case or whether settlement discussions may take place with respect to those matters.

745

There were three matters. The first was the Market Evolution Program and its associated costs. I think we have indicated that, provided the undertaking is forthcoming in the manner expressed, that this would not be an issue in this hearing.

746

With respect to the other two matters, the second was the IMO‑accumulated surplus account and financial planning. That, at this moment, is a relatively narrow legal issue. We are quite prepared to have that addressed as a legal issue without any evidence called on it. But it would, at this point, still remain on the list of issues with respect to the proposed hearing. That is to say, we do not want this dealt with by way of settlement. One of the issues that we would hope the parties would address beforehand, particularly the Applicant, of course, is the legal basis for the agreement or the memorandum of understanding.

747

The third matter is the cost implications of the transition to the new Independent Electricity System Operator. That, in the Board's view, should be a subject of the hearing, and it would be not subject to settlement. We have no objection to the parties discussing these matters in settlement, but the Board intends to leave it on the list and have it as one of the matters dealt with at the hearing.

748

That completes the Board's ruling in this matter. If there are any questions, We are happy to answer them.

749

Do you have anything, Mr. Vegh?

750

PROCEDURAL MATTERS:


751

MR. VEGH:
Sir, just a couple of areas of clarification. First, in the Board's ruling on the first contested issue, you referred to the undertaking provided by Mr. Brown, and the Board's expected change to that undertaking. Mr. Brown's undertaking referred to the IMO not taking on expenditure commitments. And I wasn't sure from your ruling from the bench whether you were referring to expenditures or expenditure commitments that Mr. Brown had originally referred to.

752

MR. KAISER:
I'm not sure what the difference is, but I would think expenditures. Our understanding of the safeguard is the safeguard is complete if no expenditures are incurred prior to the review taking place.

753

MR. VEGH:
I would have thought that the difference is a commitment could be a contractual commitment to create an obligation to pay the money as opposed to ‑‑

754

MR. KAISER:
Well, in that sense, I think probably it would be wise to include commitments.

755

MR. VEGH:
The second question, again, a clarification. The Panel stated that the ruling was conditional on the undertaking. Did you plan to address when you expect that undertaking to be either confirmed or not ‑‑ or confirmed that it will not be provided?

756

MR. KAISER:
That's a good point, Mr. Vegh. Mr. Brown, would it be ‑‑ before we issue the procedural order in this we would like to know what your position is with the undertaking the Board proposes. Do you think you could get back to us within a couple of days?

757

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Certainly within a couple of days, yes. I understand the transcript will be ready later tonight, and I can get instructions based on that.

758

MR. KAISER:
I think the main differences from the undertaking that you provided, and I've read the transcript of your undertaking, was that we didn't restrict it to capital expenditures but related to all expenditures above the $250,000 amount. And nothing would take place, including commitments, until the review process had been completed. You told us that you were not prepared to extend it to the completion of the review process. I think those are the two main changes.

759

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
That's correct. And I did specifically distinguish between capital expenditures and operational, because the capital relates to the pre‑rule‑making investigation and development. So what the Board has added to this significantly changes it. So I will have to get instructions on that.

760

MR. KAISER:
All right. Well, we'd appreciate that, if you can get back to the Board within a couple of days.

761

Is that satisfactory, Mr. Vegh?

762

MR. VEGH:
Thank you. Yes.

763

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
I'm told that I misspoke, that I misplaced capital expenditures and operations. I mean, the point that I had made in argument was that operational expenses will be made prior to the making of the rule. And as I understand the Board's decision, they're looking for an undertaking that the IMO would not make any operational expenses in respect of a Market Evolution Program until a rule has been made, if those expenses are going to exceed $250,000, which I can say, candidly, is a very low threshold. So in light of that, I will have to get instructions.

764

MR. KAISER:
All right. And in fairness to you, we did not discuss the threshold. We discussed what would be your measure of materiality and I think you told us you weren't in a position to respond. The one thing we would leave open here that is if there's a debate about the threshold, let us know if that's a problem. That was our best judgment on the very limited evidence we had before us.

765

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
I appreciate that, and I appreciate that you had very limited evidence before you. I will do that with the client because I think the $250,000, basically, you can't get a program off the ground. So it would essentially be tantamount to seeking OEB approval for any market design initiative regardless, which, of course, is completely the opposite of what we were submitting. But if there's a possibility to come back with discussions on the threshold, we will do that.

766

MR. KAISER:
I've just consulted with Mr. Sommerville and, as I say, we don't mean to be unfair to you. We're trying to seek a reasonable level of materiality for the purpose of this test, and we're prepared to be spoken to if you have further submissions on that.

767

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Very good. Thank you very much. I don't have instructions but I've undertaken to get back to you, so as part of that process, I will get back to you on that point, sir.

768

MR. KAISER:
You may, Mr. Sommerville reminds me, wish to discuss that point with the intervenors.

769

Thank you very much. That completes the ruling.

770

MR. LYLE:
Mr. Chairman, just a point of clarification on issue D2. As I understand your decision, D2.1 will be on the issues list until such time as a regulation is made but D2.2 is not on the issues list? Am I correct in my understanding?

771

MR. KAISER:
I don't have D2 ‑‑

772

MR. LYLE:
D2.1 is the question on legality ‑‑

773

MR. KAISER:
I have both on the issues list.

774

MR. LYLE:
They're both on the issues list? Thank you, Mr. Chair.

775

MS. DeMARCO:
Mr. Chair, one further question of clarification, if I might. I'm not sure if it's an appropriate question, so I'm in your hands.

776

In the event that the applicant does not agree to the undertaking, where are we procedurally with the issues list?

777

MR. KAISER:
Well, it would obviously be on the list. We've said that if the undertaking is agreeable to the Applicant the issue will get deferred to the section 32‑33 process. If there's no agreement on that then it's full speed ahead.

778

MS. DeMARCO:
Thank you.

779

‑‑‑ Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:32 p.m.

